GRAINGER W W INC Form DEF 14A March 16, 2012

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.

)

Filed by the Registrant $\acute{\mathrm{y}}$

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the appropriate box:

- o Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- ý Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12

W.W. Grainger, Inc.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- ý No fee required.
- o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
 - (1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
 - (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
 - (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
 - (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
 - (5) Total fee paid:

- o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
 - (1) Amount Previously Paid:
 - (2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
 - (3) Filing Party:
 - (4) Date Filed:

W.W. GRAINGER, INC. 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201 (847) 535-1000

March 16, 2012

Dear Grainger Shareholder:

The W.W. Grainger, Inc. 2012 annual meeting of shareholders will be held at our headquarters located at 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois (see map overleaf), on Wednesday, April 25, 2012, at 10 A.M. (CDT).

We will report at the meeting on our operations and other matters of current interest. We will also present a slate of nominees for election as directors as well as proposals to ratify the appointment of our independent auditor, and to consider and hold an advisory vote on the compensation of our Named Executive Officers. The Board of Directors and management cordially invite you to attend.

The formal notice of the annual meeting and the proxy statement follow. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please ensure that your shares are represented by giving us your proxy. You can do so by telephone, by Internet, or by signing and dating the enclosed proxy form and returning it promptly in the envelope provided.

Sincerely,

/s/ J.T. Ryan James T. Ryan Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

A majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on a matter must be represented either in person or by proxy to constitute a quorum for consideration of that matter at the annual meeting of shareholders. If your shares are held by a broker, unless you provide specific voting instructions, your broker will not be able to vote your shares for the election of directors, on the advisory vote related to executive compensation, or on other non-routine matters.

Please make sure your shares are voted.

W.W. GRAINGER, INC. 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201 (847) 535-1000

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD APRIL 25, 2012

The annual meeting of shareholders of W.W. Grainger, Inc., will be held at its headquarters at 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois (see map on previous page), on April 25, 2012, at 10 A.M. (CDT) for the following purposes:

1.

To elect twelve directors for the ensuing year;

2.

To consider and act upon a proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as independent auditor for the year ending December 31, 2012;

3.

To consider and hold an advisory vote on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers; and

4.

To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting and any adjournment thereof.

The Board has fixed the close of business on March 5, 2012, as the record date for the meeting. Shareholders may vote either in person or by proxy.

By order of the Board of Directors.

J. L. Howard Corporate Secretary

Lake Forest, Illinois March 16, 2012

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON APRIL 25, 2012

Grainger's Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K are available in the 2012 Annual Shareholder Meeting/Proxy Information section of Grainger's website at http://www.grainger.com/investor and also may be obtained free of charge on written request to the Corporate Secretary at Grainger's headquarters, 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201.

W.W. Grainger, Inc.

100 Grainger Parkway Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201 (847) 535-1000

PROXY STATEMENT

Table of Contents

Interduction	Page
Introduction	1
Directors	<u>5</u>
Recommending Candidates for Board Membership	<u>5</u>
Director Independence	5
Annual Election of Directors	<u>6</u>
Determination Regarding Director Experience, Qualifications, Attributes and Skills	<u>-</u> <u>10</u>
Board Diversity	13
Board of Directors and Board Committees	—
Leadership Structure	<u>14</u>
Board's Role in Risk Oversight	<u>17</u>
Director Compensation	<u>18</u>
Ownership of Grainger Stock	<u>20</u>
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	<u>22</u>
Report of the Audit Committee of the Board	<u>24</u>
Audit Fees and Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures	<u>25</u>
	<u>26</u>
Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board	<u>27</u>
Fees for Independent Compensation Consultant	<u>28</u>
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	<u>29</u>
Summary Compensation Table	49
Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table	50
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table	<u>51</u>
	<u>J1</u>

Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table	Page <u>52</u>
Pension Benefits Table Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table	<u>52</u>
Other Potential Post-Employment Payments Tables	<u>53</u>
Equity Compensation Plans	<u>57</u>
Transactions with Related Persons	<u>62</u>
Proposal to Ratify the Appointment of Independent Auditor	<u>63</u> <u>64</u>
Proposal to Consider and Hold an Advisory Vote on the Compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers	<u>65</u>
Appendix A Categorical Standards for Director Independence	<u>A-1</u>

INTRODUCTION

What is the purpose of this proxy statement?

This proxy statement relates to Grainger's 2012 annual meeting of shareholders to be held on April 25, 2012, and any adjournment of that meeting. It contains information intended to help you make your voting decisions. We are sending the proxy statement to you because Grainger's Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares at the meeting. The mailing of the proxy statement and other proxy-soliciting materials to you and other shareholders began on or about March 16, 2012.

What matters are scheduled to be presented?

The election of twelve directors;

A proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Grainger's independent auditor for the year ending December 31, 2012; and

A proposal to consider and hold an advisory vote on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers.

Who is entitled to vote?

Holders of shares of common stock outstanding on Grainger's books at the close of business on March 5, 2012, the record date for the meeting, may vote. There were 70,266,546 shares of common stock outstanding on that date.

If my shares are held in street name can my broker vote for me?

Unless you have given specific voting instructions to your broker, your broker cannot vote your shares on the election of directors, on the advisory vote related to executive compensation or on any non-routine matters.

What is the difference between holding shares as "shareholder of record" and as "beneficial owner"?

If your shares are registered directly in your name with Grainger's transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company, N.A., you are the shareholder of record with respect to those shares and you have the right to instruct us directly how to vote your shares or to vote in person at the meeting.

If your shares are held in street name by a brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee, you are the beneficial owner of the shares. Your nominee is required to vote your shares according to your direction. **If you do not instruct your nominee how you want your shares voted, your shares cannot be voted for the election of directors or on the advisory vote on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers.** Please contact your brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee with instructions to vote your shares for the election of directors and on other matters to be considered at the meeting.

How many votes do I have?

You have the right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. This means that you have a number of votes in the election equal to the number of shares you own multiplied by the number of

Table of Contents

directors being elected. You can cast those votes for the nominees as you choose. For example, you may cast all your votes for one nominee or you may apportion your votes among two or more nominees.

In any matter other than the election of directors, each of your shares is entitled to one vote.

Does Grainger have majority voting for election of directors?

Yes. Directors are elected by the votes of a majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.

What voting standard applies to the ratification of the appointment of independent auditor?

Ratification of the appointment of independent auditor requires the affirmative votes of a majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.

What voting standard applies to the advisory vote on the compensation of the Named Executive Officers?

Although the shareholders' vote is advisory and therefore non-binding, the vote on the compensation of the Named Executive Officers the Company's five highest paid officers whose compensation is discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis is determined by the votes of a majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.

How frequently does Grainger conduct an advisory vote on the compensation of its Named Executive Officers?

The Board of Directors has determined to hold an advisory vote on the compensation of the Named Executive Officers at every annual meeting of shareholders.

What if I don't indicate my voting choices?

If Grainger receives your proxy in time to permit its use at the meeting, your shares will be voted in accordance with the instructions you indicate. If we have received your proxy and you have not indicated otherwise, your shares will be voted as recommended by Grainger's Board. Specifically, your shares will be voted, either individually or cumulatively:

FOR the election of the director nominees;

FOR the proposal to ratify the appointment of the independent auditor; and

FOR the approval of the advisory resolution on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers.

If you are a beneficial owner and the shares you own are held in street name by a brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee **you must specifically instruct your nominee how you want your shares voted for the election of directors and on the advisory resolution on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers; otherwise your nominee is not allowed to vote your shares.** Please contact your brokerage firm, bank, or other nominee with instructions to vote your shares for the election of directors and on other matters to be considered at the meeting.

Table of Contents

How does discretionary voting apply?

Grainger is not aware of any matter not described in this proxy statement that will be presented for consideration at the meeting. If another matter is properly presented, your shares will be voted on the matter in accordance with the judgment of the person or persons voting the proxy unless your proxy withholds discretionary authority.

May I revoke my proxy?

Yes. You may revoke your proxy at any time before the voting at the meeting. You can do so in one of the following ways:

1.

Deliver to Grainger's Corporate Secretary timely written notice that you are revoking your proxy; or

2.

Provide to Grainger another proxy with a later date (which can be done by telephone, by Internet, or by signing, dating, and returning a proxy form); or

3.

Vote in person at the meeting.

What does it mean if I receive more than one set of proxy materials?

Receiving multiple sets of proxy-soliciting materials generally means that your Grainger shares are held in different names or in different accounts. You must vote all of the proxy requests to ensure that all your shares are voted.

What constitutes a quorum at the meeting?

A majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on a matter, whether present in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum for consideration of that matter at the meeting. A quorum is necessary for valid action to be taken on the matter. Your shares will be present by proxy and count toward the quorum if you give us your proxy by telephone, by Internet, or by signing, dating, and returning a proxy form.

Who pays the costs of soliciting proxies?

Grainger will pay all the costs of soliciting management proxies. Brokerage firms, custodians, nominees, fiduciaries, and other intermediaries are being asked to forward the proxy-soliciting materials to beneficial owners of Grainger common stock and to obtain their authority to give proxies. Grainger will reimburse these intermediaries for their reasonable expenses.

In addition to mailing proxy-soliciting materials, Grainger's directors, officers, and regular employees may solicit proxies personally, by telephone, or by other means. They will not receive additional compensation for these services, other than normal overtime pay, if applicable. Representatives of Grainger's transfer agent may also solicit proxies. Grainger additionally has employed D.F. King & Co., Inc. to help solicit proxies and will pay that firm approximately \$7,000 for its services, plus reasonable costs and expenses.

Where can I find the voting results?

We will report the voting results on either a Form 10-Q or on a Form 8-K within four business days after the end of our annual meeting.

How do I submit a shareholder proposal or directly nominate a director at the 2013 annual meeting?

If you wish to have a shareholder proposal included in Grainger's proxy-soliciting materials for the 2013 annual meeting of shareholders, please send a notice of intent to submit your proposal at that meeting to the Corporate Secretary at Grainger's headquarters. The notice, including the text of the proposal, must be in writing, signed, and in compliance with the timing and other requirements of the proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. For a shareholder proposal relating to the 2013 annual meeting to be timely, Grainger must receive the notice no later than November 16, 2012.

Grainger's by-laws require written notice concerning a shareholder submission of a proposal or a shareholder nomination of a person for election as a director at a meeting of shareholders. For a shareholder proposal, certain information about the shareholder and the proposal is required. For the submission of a proposal, the notice must be furnished generally not less than 90 days and not more than 120 days before the anniversary date of the prior year's annual meeting. Likewise, for a shareholder nomination, certain information about the shareholder and the nominee is required. For a nomination to be considered at Grainger's 2013 annual meeting, the notice must be furnished no later than November 16, 2012.

A copy of the by-laws are available in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor or may be obtained free of charge on written request to the Corporate Secretary at Grainger's headquarters, 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201.

DIRECTORS

Recommending Candidates for Board Membership

The Board Affairs and Nominating Committee recommends candidates for Board membership based on a number of criteria, including ethical standards, judgment, independence and objectivity, strategic perspective, record of accomplishments, and business knowledge and experience applicable to Grainger's goals. Suggestions as to candidates are received from members of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee, other directors, employees, search firms and others, including shareholders.

Any shareholder who would like the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee to consider a candidate for Board membership should send a letter of recommendation containing the names and addresses of the proposing shareholder and the proposed candidate and setting forth the business, professional, and educational background of the proposed candidate, as well as a description of any agreement or relationship between the proposing shareholder and proposed candidate. A written consent of the proposed candidate to being identified as a nominee and to serve as a director if elected should also be provided. The communication should be sent by mail or other delivery service to the attention of the Corporate Secretary at Grainger's headquarters.

Director Independence

The Board has adopted "categorical standards" to assist it in making independence determinations of nominees. The categorical standards are intended to help the Board in determining whether certain relationships between nominees and Grainger are "material relationships" for purposes of the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") independence standards. The categorical standards adopted by the Board have more restrictive thresholds than the NYSE's bright line revenue test for non-independence. The categorical standards adopted by the Board are set forth in Appendix A to this proxy statement and are also available in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

In the ordinary course of its operations during 2011, Grainger engaged in various types of transactions with organizations with which Grainger directors are associated in their principal business occupations or otherwise. Specifically, in the ordinary course of its business during 2011, Grainger bought products and/or services from, or sold products and/or services to, companies with which Messrs. Hall, Levenick, McCarter, Santi, and Slavik are associated as executive officers or otherwise. In no instance did the total amount of the purchases from or sales to any such company during 2011 represent more than 0.216% of the projected consolidated gross revenues of that company for the year or 0.475% of the consolidated gross revenues of Grainger for the year.

In addition, as part of its overall 2011 charitable contributions program, Grainger made donations to tax-exempt organizations with which Messrs. Anderson, Gantz, Hall, McCarter, Novich, and Santi serve as officers, directors or trustees. In no instance did the total amount of the contributions to such an organization during 2011 represent more than 0.0392% of that organization's projected total contributions for the year.

The Board considered these transactions and donations in assessing the independence of the directors involved against the NYSE's independence standards and Grainger's categorical standards, and determined that none of the directors had any direct or material indirect interest in the transactions and donations. Similar transactions and donations are likely to occur in the future, and are not expected to impair the independence of the directors involved.

The Board has determined that each of Messrs. Anderson, Gantz, Hall, Levenick, McCarter, Novich, Roberts, Rogers, Santi, and Slavik, and Ms. Hailey has no material relationship with Grainger within the meaning of the NYSE independence standards and Grainger's categorical standards. The other nominee, Mr. Ryan, is a Grainger employee and, accordingly, is not considered "independent." All of the nominees were previously elected by the shareholders at the 2011 annual meeting of shareholders.

Annual Election of Directors

Grainger's directors are elected each year at the annual meeting. As set forth in the Operating Principles for the Board of Directors, Grainger expects all directors and nominees to attend annual meetings. At the 2011 annual meeting, all of the directors were in attendance. In addition, all directors attended at least 75% of Board and Committee meetings.

Twelve directors have been nominated for election at this year's annual meeting of shareholders. All directors are elected for a one-year term. The directors will therefore serve until the 2013 annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors have been qualified and elected. Details concerning the nominees are provided below.

Majority (rather than plurality) voting applies to Grainger's director elections. Accordingly, directors are elected by the votes of a majority of the shares of Grainger common stock represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote. A shareholder directing to withhold authority for re-election of directors will have the same effect as votes against the election of directors. Assuming a quorum is present, broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of the vote. If any of the nominees for director mentioned below should be unavailable for election, a circumstance that is not expected, the person or persons voting your proxy may exercise discretion to vote for a substitute nominee selected by the Board.

The nominees have provided the following information about themselves, including their ages in March 2012. Unless otherwise indicated, each nominee has served for at least the past five years in the principal business position currently or most recently held.

Brian P. Anderson, age 61, is the former Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer of OfficeMax Incorporated, a distributor of business-to-business and retail office products, having served in that position until January 2005. Prior to assuming this position in 2004, Mr. Anderson was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Baxter International Inc., a position he assumed in 1998. He is also a director of A. M. Castle & Co., for which he is Chairman of the Board as well as a director of James Hardie Industries SE, and PulteGroup, Inc. and serves on the audit committees of each of those two companies. He is a director of The Nemours Foundation. Mr. Anderson, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 1999 and is the Lead Director, the Chairman of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee, a member of the Audit Committee, and an "audit committee financial expert."

Table of Contents

Wilbur H. Gantz, age 74, is President and Chief Executive Officer of PathoCapital LLC, a privately owned investment company. Mr. Gantz was formerly, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Ovation Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a position assumed in 2002. Previously he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PathoGenesis Corporation and as President of Baxter International Inc. During the past five years, Mr. Gantz served on the board of directors of Harris Financial Corp. He is a trustee of The Field Museum of Natural History. Mr. Gantz, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 1985 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

Under Grainger's Criteria for Membership on the Board of Directors, an outside director who has passed his or her 72nd birthday generally would not be nominated. Mr. Gantz has reached an age that exceeds the general guideline. However, given Mr. Gantz's performance as a member of the Board, and the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of Mr. Gantz, as described on page 11, the Board has determined that an exception to this general principle for Mr. Gantz is appropriate.

V. Ann Hailey, age 61, Former Chief Financial Officer of Gilt Groupe, an Internet retailer of discount luxury goods having served in that position until January 31, 2010. Previously she was with Limited Brands, Inc., where she served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1997 to 2006 and as Executive Vice President, Corporate Development from 2006 to 2007. Prior to joining Limited Brands in 1997, Ms. Hailey was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Pillsbury Company. She is also a director of Avon Products, Inc. and serves on its audit committee. During the past five years, Ms. Hailey served on the board of directors of the Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland. Ms. Hailey, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 2006 and is Chair of the Audit Committee, an "audit committee financial expert," and a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

Table of Contents

William K. Hall, age 68, is a founding partner of Procyon Advisors, LLP and former Chairman of Procyon Technologies, Inc., a privately owned, Chicago-based holding company. Prior to assuming that position in 2000, Mr. Hall was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Falcon Building Products, Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of products for residential and commercial construction and home improvement markets. He currently serves on the boards of Actuant Corporation and Stericycle, Inc. and serves on the audit committee of Actuant Corporation. During the past five years, Mr. Hall served on the board of directors of A. M. Castle & Co. and Great Plains Energy Incorporated. He is a director of Northwestern University Settlement Association and a trustee of Rush University Medical Center. Mr. Hall, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 2005 and is a member of the Audit Committee, an "audit committee financial expert," and a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

Stuart L. Levenick, age 59, is Group President of Caterpillar Inc., a manufacturer of construction and mining equipment, diesel and natural gas engines and industrial gas turbines. Prior to assuming that position in 2004, Mr. Levenick served as Vice President, Caterpillar Inc. and Chairman of Shin Caterpillar Mitsubishi Ltd. from 2000 to 2004 and as Vice President, Asia Pacific Division from 2001 to 2004. He is also a director of Entergy Corporation. He is an Executive Director of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, Executive Director of the Association of Equipment Manufacturers, Washington, DC, a member of the board of directors of the Heart of Illinois United Way, and a member of the University of Illinois Foundation. Mr. Levenick, an independent director, was first appointed a director of Grainger in 2005 and is Chairman of the Compensation Committee and a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

John W. McCarter, Jr., age 74, is President and Chief Executive Officer of The Field Museum of Natural History, a position assumed in 1996. Mr. McCarter served as Senior Vice President of Booz, Allen & Hamilton Inc., a management consulting firm, until 1997. He is a Fellow of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences; a member of the Board of Governors for Argonne National Laboratory; an Emeritus Trustee and former Chairman of Chicago's Public Television Station, WTTW Channel 11; a trustee of the National Recreation Foundation; a Regent at the Smithsonian Institution; and an Emeritus Trustee of the University of Chicago. Mr. McCarter, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 1990 and is a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee.

Under Grainger's Criteria for Membership on the Board of Directors, an outside director who has passed his or her 72nd birthday generally would not be nominated. Mr. McCarter has reached an age that exceeds the general guideline. However, given Mr. McCarter's performance as a member of the Board, and the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of Mr. McCarter, as described on page 12, the Board has determined that an exception to this general principle for Mr. McCarter is appropriate.

Neil S. Novich, age 57, is the former Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer and a former director of Ryerson Inc., a major metal distributor and fabricator. Mr. Novich became Ryerson's President and Chief Executive Officer in 1996 and also Chairman in 1999, a position he held through 2007. He is also a director of Analog Devices, Inc. and Hillenbrand, Inc. He is a trustee of The Field Museum of Natural History and Children's Home & Aid, and a member of the Visiting Committee to the Physical Sciences Division, University of Chicago. Mr. Novich, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 1999 and is a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee.

Michael J. Roberts, age 61, is Chief Executive Officer and the Founder of Westside Holdings, LLC, a marketing and brand development company. Formerly, he was President and Chief Operating Officer of McDonald's Corporation from 2004 to 2006. His previous positions at McDonald's Corporation included Chief Executive Officer McDonald's USA during 2004; President McDonald's USA from 2001 to 2004; and President, West Division McDonald's USA from 1997 to 2001. Mr. Roberts is also a director of CenturyLink, Inc. and Standard Parking Corporation. During the past five years, Mr. Roberts served on the board of directors of Qwest Communications International, Inc. Mr. Roberts is a director of the Chicago Council on Global Affairs. Mr. Roberts, an independent director, was first appointed a director of Grainger in 2006 and is a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee.

Gary L. Rogers, age 67, was Vice Chairman of General Electric Company from 2001 until his retirement in December 2003. Previously, Mr. Rogers was Senior Vice President of General Electric Company and President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Plastics from 1992 to 2001. During the past five years, Mr. Rogers served on the board of directors of Rohm and Haas Company and Wyeth. Mr. Rogers, an independent director, was first appointed a director of Grainger in 2004 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

Table of Contents

James T. Ryan, age 53, is Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Grainger, positions assumed in 2009, 2006 and 2008, respectively. Mr. Ryan became Chief Operating Officer and was appointed to Grainger's Board of Directors in 2007. Prior to that, Mr. Ryan served as Group President, a position assumed in 2004. He has served Grainger in increasingly responsible roles since 1980, including Executive Vice President, Marketing, Sales and Service; Vice President, Information Services; President, Grainger.com; and President, Grainger Parts. He is a trustee of the Museum of Science and Industry and DePaul University. He is also a member of the Civic Committee of the Commercial Club of Chicago, the Economic Club of Chicago, and Business Roundtable.

E. Scott Santi, age 50 is Vice Chairman of Illinois Tool Works Inc. ("ITW"), a worldwide manufacturer and marketer of engineered components and industrial systems and consumables. In December 2008, Mr. Santi was named to his current position of Vice Chairman with responsibility for ITW's Worldwide Welding, Electronic Component Fabrication, Aircraft Ground Support Equipment Group, and Food Equipment businesses. From 2004 until 2008, Mr. Santi served as an Executive Vice President of ITW responsible for the company's Worldwide Welding, Electronic Component Fabrication, and Aircraft Ground Support Equipment Groups. He is a member of the board of trustees of the Ravinia Festival Association. Mr. Santi, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 2010 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee.

James D. Slavik, age 59, is Chairman and a director of Mark IV Capital, Inc., a private commercial real estate development and investment company that was founded in 1974. Mark IV Capital acquires, invests in, develops and manages commercial real estate projects. Mr. Slavik was named to his current position in 2003, after serving as Mark IV Capital, Inc.'s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from 1990 to 2003. He is also a director of the Hoag Hospital Foundation. Mr. Slavik, an independent director, was first elected a director of Grainger in 1987 and is a member of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee.

Determination Regarding Director Experience, Qualifications, Attributes, and Skills

The Company's directors and nominees have varied experiences, qualifications, attributes, and skills that assist them in providing guidance and oversight to the Company's management as it operates a multichannel business model through a network of branches, distribution centers, sales representatives, direct marketing, including catalogs, and a variety of electronic and Internet channels and with more than 21,400 employees in the United States, Canada, China, Colombia, Europe, India, Japan, Mexico, and Panama. With 2011 sales of \$8.1 billion and a leading broad-line distributor of maintenance, repair and operating supplies and other related products and services in North America with an expanding presence in Europe, Asia and Latin America, the Company has a diverse customer base necessitating depth and breadth of product lines and offerings.

Table of Contents

The Board has identified experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills that in light of the Company's business and structure are relevant to service on the Board of Directors. The Board considers nominees who have demonstrated integrity and accomplishment in their business and professional careers and who possess the necessary experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills to contribute to the Board and the Company. In addition, ongoing director education, whether provided by the Company or by a third party, are important to service on the Board of Directors. Current nominees have engaged in continuing education and other programs to remain current in their particular areas of expertise as well as to further their understanding of corporate governance and in other matters relevant to the Company.

The Board believes the experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills of each nominee qualify the nominee for service on the Board of Directors. Each of the current nominees has significant leadership experience in large, multifaceted organizations. This experience includes developing and executing corporate strategy, overseeing operations, and managing risks in organizations similar in size or complexity to the Company. The summary provided below is not a comprehensive statement of each nominee's background but is provided to describe the primary other experiences, qualifications, attributes, and skills that led the Board to nominate each individual.

Mr. Brian P. Anderson served as the chief financial officer ("CFO") of two public companies, held finance positions including corporate controller and vice president of audit and was an audit partner at an international public accounting firm. As a result, Mr. Anderson has in-depth knowledge of accounting and finance as well as familiarity in risk management and risk assessment and the application of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission internal controls framework. In addition, while serving as a CFO of one of the two public companies, Mr. Anderson had primary responsibility for the supply chain and logistics of that company. Mr. Anderson also has in-depth experience in corporate governance matters and is the Chairman of the Board of a public company as well as a member of the governance committee of two other public companies. In addition, Mr. Anderson serves on the audit committee of three public companies, including Grainger.

Mr. Wilbur H. Gantz has served as the chief executive officer ("CEO") of two multinational pharmaceutical companies, is well versed in regulatory and compliance frameworks and has had significant involvement in supply chain and product distribution. He has also had responsibility for international operations, which required living and working outside of the United States. Mr. Gantz has chaired governance committees for a number of companies and has served on the compensation committees of three public companies.

Ms. V. Ann Hailey has served as the CFO of a multi-billion dollar public company as well as the CFO of a privately held company. She has held various other finance and planning positions at multinational public companies. In addition, Ms. Hailey has held positions in marketing, human resources, and business development including service as executive vice president, corporate development at a multi-billion dollar consumer products company. Ms. Hailey also possesses broad expertise in strategic planning, branding and marketing as well as recent experience in eCommerce and on-line selling. She also serves on the audit committee of another public company.

Mr. William K. Hall has served as a senior executive at five multinational enterprises and as CEO of three manufacturing companies. Included in his responsibilities was the management of foreign operations. Mr. Hall also served as the chief marketing officer of a large manufacturing company for over five years. Through his years of service with public and private companies as well as on a university's faculty, Mr. Hall has in-depth experience in finance, strategy, business ethics and

Table of Contents

governance. In addition, Mr. Hall has extensive experience as a strategic management consultant providing planning services including analyzing and evaluating company financials and assessing acquisition and divestiture opportunities.

Mr. Stuart L. Levenick serves as the president of a multinational manufacturing company and has had extensive international operations experience including positions outside the United States in numerous countries for more than 20 years. Mr. Levenick also has current and past operational responsibility for supply chain and logistics and current responsibility for the global parts and product support business as well as global marketing of his present employer. In addition, he has led his employer's global human resources function and has responsibility for that company's enterprise risk assessment.

Mr. John W. McCarter, Jr. serves as the CEO of a large not-for-profit enterprise and was previously the senior vice president and practice lead for a management consulting firm. During his tenure as a consultant, Mr. McCarter consulted on corporate strategy and organization matters. Mr. McCarter also has extensive governance experience as the chairman of non-profit boards as well as past service as a trustee of two universities and service on public company boards. Mr. McCarter has served on audit committees of public and private companies and was the former director of finance and budget director for the State of Illinois.

Mr. Neil S. Novich has served as the CEO and chairman of the board of a public multinational metal distributor and fabricator, where he was deeply engaged in that company's distribution operations on a domestic and international basis, and also in the leadership development and human resources functions. He was also a consultant for a management consulting firm for over 10 years developing strategies for its clients. As a result, Mr. Novich has in-depth operational experience in supply chain, distribution and logistics and experience in developing strategy across a variety of industries. Mr. Novich also serves on the nominating and governance committee of another public company and the compensation committees of two other public companies.

Mr. Michael J. Roberts served as president and chief operating officer of a multinational public food-service company and in this capacity had extensive management and profit and loss responsibilities. Further, he was responsible for the marketing and international operations of that company. Mr. Roberts also has significant human resources experience and serves on the compensation committees of two other public companies.

Mr. Gary L. Rogers served as president and CEO of a global enterprise with responsibilities including international operations, global supply chain, distribution and logistics. Mr. Rogers also has a background in finance and accounting serving as part of the corporate audit staff and as division chief financial officer for that same enterprise.

Mr. James T. Ryan is the Company's Chairman, President and CEO. He has served Grainger in many capacities over his 30 years with the Company including direct responsibility for purchasing and varied management roles in the supply chain operations of the Company. Previously, Mr. Ryan was directly responsible for the sales and marketing of the Company's United States operations. Mr. Ryan also has extensive experience in strategic planning, development and execution.

Mr. E. Scott Santi is the vice chairman of a public manufacturer and marketer of products. Prior to assuming this position, he served in various management roles for the same company including positions requiring significant operational and financial responsibility. During his tenure he has had extensive international responsibility including operating responsibility for annual international revenues of several billion dollars. Mr. Santi has also had significant strategic marketing

Table of Contents

responsibilities and human resource experience including compensation policy, leadership development and succession planning.

Mr. James D. Slavik is the chairman of a private commercial real estate development and investment company and was previously that company's CEO. As a result, Mr. Slavik has expansive knowledge in investments, financing and real estate. Mr. Slavik also worked at multiple commercial brokerage companies as an investment properties broker and led the marketing programs for clients' commercial properties.

Board Diversity

One of the primary objectives of Grainger's corporate governance structure is to have a highly functional Board that properly oversees the Company's strategies and operations. The Board's Criteria for Membership on the Board of Directors ("Criteria") list the various characteristics that the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee should consider in reviewing candidates for the Board. In addition to relevant business experience, qualifications, attributes, skills, and the willingness to become involved with the Company, the Criteria also enumerate personal characteristics that should be considered, including reputation for ethics and integrity, common sense and judgment, independent and objective thought, and the consideration of diverse opinions.

Regarding diversity, the Criteria specify that consideration shall be given to candidates without regard to race, color, religion, gender or national origin. To insure that the Board benefits from diverse perspectives, it seeks qualified nominees from a variety of backgrounds, including candidates of gender and racial diversity, and in any retained search for Board candidates, the Company specifies that the Board is seeking candidates with gender and racial diversity. The Board actively reviews diversity recruiting efforts.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES

Five meetings of the Board were held in 2011. Each regular Board meeting included at least one executive session, during which only independent directors were present. In addition, the directors acted once by unanimous written consent during the year.

The Board has three standing committees: Audit, Board Affairs and Nominating, and Compensation. All members of these committees are required to be "independent" directors. All non-employee directors have been determined to be independent. Committee memberships are shown in the following table:

Independent Directors' Committee Assignments

Name	Audit	Board Affairs and Nominating	Compensation
Brian P. Anderson	Member	Chair	
Wilbur H. Gantz	Member	Member	
V. Ann Hailey	Chair	Member	
William K. Hall	Member	Member	
Stuart L. Levenick		Member	Chair
John W. McCarter, Jr.		Member	Member
Neil S. Novich		Member	Member
Michael J. Roberts		Member	Member
Gary L. Rogers	Member	Member	
E. Scott Santi	Member	Member	
James D. Slavik		Member	Member

The Operating Principles for the Board of Directors and the Company's by-laws created the leadership position of Lead Director, to be elected annually by and from the Board's independent directors. Mr. Brian P. Anderson was elected to serve as Lead Director after the April 2011 annual meeting of shareholders.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee met four times in 2011. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Audit Committee is "independent," as that term is defined in the independence requirements for audit committee members contained in the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and standards of the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The Board has also determined that each of Ms. V. Ann Hailey, Chair of the Audit Committee, Mr. Brian P. Anderson and Mr. William K. Hall, each a member of the Audit Committee, is an "audit committee financial expert," as that term is defined in the applicable rules of the SEC.

1	Λ
1	-

Table of Contents

The Audit Committee assists the Board in its oversight responsibility with respect to Grainger's financial reporting process, Grainger's systems of internal accounting and financial controls, the integrity of Grainger's financial statements, Grainger's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the qualifications and independence of Grainger's independent auditor, and the performance of Grainger's internal audit function and independent auditor. It also has oversight responsibilities for various aspects of certain employee benefit plans. Additionally included among the responsibilities of the Audit Committee are the appointment, compensation, retention, and oversight of the independent auditor; the establishment of procedures for the treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, and auditing matters; and the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditor. The Audit Committee has the further responsibility to review the Company's risk assessment and risk management process and policies and to oversee compliance with Grainger's Business Conduct Guidelines.

Board Affairs and Nominating Committee

The Board Affairs and Nominating Committee met five times in 2011. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee is "independent," as that term is defined in the independence requirements for members of nominating committees contained in the applicable standards of the NYSE.

The Board Affairs and Nominating Committee makes recommendations to the Board regarding the makeup of the Board and its committees, establishes specific criteria by which potential directors shall be qualified, identifies potential nominees, makes recommendations concerning director and nominee independence, reviews transactions between Grainger and related persons (as further discussed below) as well as evaluates the overall performance of the Board. It also has primary oversight responsibility for corporate governance, including the responsibility to recommend corporate governance principles, recommend Board committee responsibilities and members, evaluate the Board in the area of corporate governance, including the adequacy of the information supplied to the Board and the Board's performance of its oversight responsibilities relative to the management of Grainger, and to recommend retirement, compensation, and other policies applicable to directors; and oversight responsibility of corporate citizenship activities to advance the interest of shareholders including involvement in the communities Grainger serves and promotion of a sustainable environment. Additional responsibilities of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee are to review senior management organization and succession and to make initial assessments regarding major issues or proposals.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee oversees Grainger's compensation and benefits policies and programs (generally with regard to all employees and specifically with regard to officers), makes executive compensation decisions, and reviews and makes recommendations concerning other compensation related matters to be submitted to the Board and/or shareholders for approval. The general responsibilities of the Committee are to oversee:

That a market competitive compensation structure is in place that will attract, motivate, and retain key talent necessary to help deliver performance that will increase shareholder value;

That compensation, especially senior management compensation, is linked to performance, both personal and Company;

That the Company's competitive policies and practices for all employees are designed to avoid inappropriate risk taking incentives;

That compensation and benefit policies and practices reflect the highest level of integrity; and

That various stock and incentive plans are appropriately administered.

In 2011, the Compensation Committee met five times and each meeting included an executive session without management present. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Compensation Committee is "independent," as that term is defined in the independence requirements for members of compensation committees contained in the applicable standards of the NYSE.

The Compensation Committee annually reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to chief executive officer ("CEO") compensation, evaluates CEO performance in light of those financial goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or together with the other independent directors (as directed by the Board), determines and approves the CEO's compensation based on this evaluation, in executive session without members of management present, and approves the compensation paid to the five most highly compensated executives, the Named Executive Officers ("NEOs").

In overseeing the Company's compensation programs, the Compensation Committee (the "Committee") develops programs based on its own deliberations. It also considers alternatives and recommendations from its own independent consultant, a variety of other compensation and benefits consultants, and management. Since 2004, the Committee has retained Deloitte Consulting LLP ("Deloitte Consulting") as its independent compensation consultant. The independent compensation consultant is solely hired by and reports directly to the Committee. The Committee's practice is to routinely meet with the independent consultant in executive session, without management present, following each Compensation Committee meeting. The Committee has sole authority to retain and terminate the independent consultant, including sole authority to approve the consultant's fees. At the Committee's direction, the independent compensation consultant:

attends Committee meetings;

assists the Committee in evaluating compensation proposals;

helps analyze recommendations proposed by management;

assists with the design of the structure and metrics for incentive compensation programs;

responds to specific compensation-related inquiries, such as determining comparator companies used for compensation studies;

conducts risk reviews of the Company's performance and incentive based compensation programs; and

undertakes special projects.

The Committee seeks advice from the independent consultant on compensation trends and best practices, as well as in reviewing the Company's programs and policies to ensure they are designed and operate to achieve their purposes and goals. During 2011, the independent consultant performed a number of specific projects, including assisting the Company in assessing the results of an internal risk review process of the incentive programs, providing advice on executive compensation trends, and attending all Compensation Committee meetings and executive sessions.

Table of Contents

Members of management (including certain of its NEOs) assist the Compensation Committee in performing its responsibilities by providing recommendations for the design of Grainger's compensation program for its NEOs, other officers, and other employees. Management also recommends salary and award levels, except those related to Mr. Ryan, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ryan's salary and awards are reviewed by the Compensation Committee, either alone or together with the other independent directors (as directed by the Board), in executive session without members of management present.

The Compensation Committee grants equity awards (stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), and performance shares) to officers and other employees under the 2010 Incentive Plan. The Committee delegates to management a limited authority to grant stock options and RSUs to non-officer employees. Awards under this authority are granted under the terms and conditions that have been approved by the Committee. The pool of shares available to management under this delegation is refreshed annually to 20,000 stock options and 25,000 RSUs. The maximum amount that management is authorized to award is 5,000 stock options and 2,500 RSUs, and to avoid any perception of manipulated timing, all awards are effective the first business day of the month following the award. Information concerning the grants is shared with the Committee at its next meeting. The Committee may terminate this delegation of authority at its discretion.

Leadership Structure

The Board has carefully considered its leadership structure and believes that a combined Chairman/Chief Executive Officer position represents the best leadership structure for the Company.

The Board has strong governance structures and processes in place to ensure the independence of the Board. These established structures and processes, which are reflected in the Operating Principles for the Board of Directors and the various Committee charters, provide for the independent directors to exercise authority so that the Board is effective in overseeing critical matters of strategy, operations, and reporting. Important duties performed by the independent directors, either collectively or through committees made up solely of independent directors, are selecting the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and evaluating his or her performance and the resulting compensation.

The Board believes that a single individual serving in the combined position of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer provides a useful and effective connection between the Board and Company management to help them act with a common understanding and purpose. This structure assists in the timely flow of relevant information that supports effective Board decision-making.

The Board does not believe that separating the role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer would result in strengthening our corporate governance or in creating or enhancing long-term value for our shareholders. While the Board generally believes that splitting the positions is unnecessary and not in the best interest of shareholders, it temporarily separated the two positions in 2008 as part of a planned leadership succession process. The separation of these functions helped promote an orderly transition in Company leadership. At the end of the transition period, after consideration of the Company's governance structures, the Board determined it was appropriate to combine the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions.

In deciding that a combined Chairman and Chief Executive Officer position is the appropriate leadership structure for the Company, the Board also recognized the need for independent leadership and oversight. Since 1995, the Company's Operating Principles for the Board of Directors have

Table of Contents

assigned a leadership role to the independent director serving as Chairman of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee. Over time, this director has been responsible for facilitating Board involvement on major issues and/or proposals, reviewing meeting agenda and information to be provided to the Board, consulting with directors, the Chief Executive Officer, and management and presiding at executive sessions of the Board.

In 2010, the Board revised its Operating Principles and by-laws to create the leadership position of Lead Director, to be elected annually by and from the Board's independent directors. Among the duties assigned to the Lead Director is the responsibility for:

Presiding at meetings of the Board at which the Chairman is not present, including executive sessions of the independent directors;

Serving as the primary liaison between the Chairman and the independent directors;

Reviewing and approving the types of information sent to the Board;

Reviewing and approving meeting agenda for the Board to insure that critical issues are included;

Reviewing and approving meeting schedules to insure that there is sufficient time for discussion of all agenda items;

Conducting the Board's annual self-evaluation, including coordinating Board Committee evaluations;

Leading the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer evaluation and communicating to the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer the independent directors' annual evaluation of the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer's performance; and

Calling meetings of the independent directors if appropriate.

We believe that given the Company's corporate governance structures and processes, a combined Chairman and Chief Executive Officer position in conjunction with an independent Lead Director provides effective oversight of management by the Board and results in a high level of management accountability to shareholders.

Board's Role in Risk Oversight

The Company is a broad-line distributor of maintenance, repair and operating supplies and other related products and services serving businesses and institutions, providing customers with access to more than 800,000 products. The Company has a broad and diverse customer base. In 2011, sales transactions were made to approximately 2.0 million customers with no single customer's aggregate purchases representing more than 2 percent of the Company's total sales. The Company also has a diverse supplier base. In 2011, the Company purchased products from more than 2,300 key suppliers, and no single supplier represented more than 5 percent of the total purchases.

The Board's role is to oversee risk assessment and risk management processes and policies used by the Company to identify, assess, monitor and address potential financial, compensation, operational, strategic and legal risks on an enterprise-wide basis. The Audit Committee of the Board also regularly reviews the Company's risk assessment and risk management processes and policies, including receiving regular reports from the members of the Company's management who are

Table of Contents

responsible for risk assessment and risk management on the effectiveness of the Company's enterprise risk management initiatives.

Available Information

Grainger has adopted Business Conduct Guidelines for directors, officers, and employees, incorporating the Code of Ethics required by rules of the SEC to be applicable to a company's chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and chief accounting officer or controller, and intends to satisfy any disclosure requirements with respect to the Business Conduct Guidelines by posting the information on its website. Grainger also has adopted Operating Principles for the Board of Directors, which represent its corporate governance guidelines.

Grainger's Business Conduct Guidelines and Operating Principles for the Board of Directors are available in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

Also available in the Corporate Governance section of that website are the charters, adopted by the Board, of the Board's Audit Committee, Board Affairs and Nominating Committee, and Compensation Committee.

All of these documents are also available to shareholders in print, free of charge, upon request to the Corporate Secretary at Grainger's headquarters, 100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, Illinois 60045-5201.

Other Communications With Directors

Grainger has established a process by which shareholders and other interested parties may communicate with the Board, Board committees, and/or individual directors on matters of interest. Such communications should be sent in writing to:

[Name(s) of director(s)] or [Non-management directors] or [Board of Directors] W.W. Grainger, Inc. P.O. Box 856 Skokie, Illinois 60076-0856

If the matter is confidential in nature, please mark the correspondence accordingly. Additional information concerning this process is available in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The Company's 11 independent directors receive an annual cash retainer of \$85,000 and an annual deferred stock grant of \$115,000. Directors serving as Committee Chairs receive an additional annual retainer.

The Company's 11 independent directors ("directors") are compensated at a level that approximates median market practice. Grainger pays these directors an annual cash retainer of \$85,000 for the year beginning with the annual meeting of shareholders, which is intended to cover all regularly scheduled meetings of the Board and its committees. If additional meetings are held, a per-meeting fee of \$1,500 is paid to each attending director. The Chairs of Board committees and the Lead Director receive additional annual retainers. For the Chair of the Audit Committee, the retainer is \$20,000; for the Chair of the Compensation Committee, the retainer is \$15,000; for the Chair of the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee, the retainer is \$7,500; and for the Lead Director, the retainer is \$7,500.

All independent directors also receive an annual deferred stock unit grant. The number of shares covered by each grant is equal to \$115,000 (based on the 200-day average stock price as of January 31, in the year of the grant, a methodology consistent with the calculation used for executive equity awards), rounded up to the next ten-share increment. The deferred stock units are settled upon termination of service as a director. Directors may also defer their annual retainers, committee chair retainers, and meeting fees in a deferred stock unit account.

In benchmarking director pay, the Company uses the same compensation comparator group that is used to benchmark compensation for the Company's executives as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The Compensation Committee's independent compensation consultant periodically reviews the comparative information and advises on director compensation.

Stock ownership guidelines applicable to non-employee directors were established in 1998. These guidelines provide that within five years after election, a director must own Grainger common stock and common stock equivalents having a value of at least five times the annual cash retainer fee for serving on the Board. All directors are currently in compliance with the guidelines.

Grainger provides travel and reimburses travel expenses relating to their service as a director and reimburses directors for attending continuing education programs. In addition, Grainger matches directors' charitable contributions on a three to one basis up to a maximum company contribution of \$7,500 annually, and provides discounts on product purchases, both on the same basis as provided to U.S. Grainger employees.

A director who is an employee of Grainger or any Grainger subsidiary does not receive any compensation for serving as a director.

2011 Director Compensation

Name	 Fees arned or Paid in Cash (1)	A	Stock wards (2)	•	tion ard s	In	n-equity centive Plan C pensation	P an qu De Com	•	All Other mpensation (3)	Total
Brian P. Anderson	\$ 100,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 256,188
Wilbur H. Gantz	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 241,188
V. Ann Hailey	\$ 105,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 253,688
William K. Hall	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 233,688
Stuart L. Levenick	\$ 100,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 248,688
John W. McCarter, Jr.	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 241,188
Neil S. Novich	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 241,188
Michael J. Roberts	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$		\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 241,188
Gary L. Rogers	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0		0		0	0	\$ 233,688
	,		,								
James T. Ryan	\$ 0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 0
E. Scott Santi	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 233,688
James D. Slavik	\$ 85,000	\$	148,688	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 7,500	\$ 241,188

Represents cash fees received in 2011.

(2)

Represents the grant date fair value of an award of 990 deferred stock units made on April 27, 2011, with immediate vesting that will be paid upon termination from service, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The stock units were determined by dividing the grant dollar value by the 200-day average stock price as of January 31 in the year of the grant, a methodology consistent with the calculation to be used for other executive equity awards.

(3)

Represents amounts paid by the Company to charitable organizations as part of the Company's matching gift program.

⁽¹⁾

OWNERSHIP OF GRAINGER STOCK

The table below shows how many shares of Grainger common stock the directors, certain executive officers, and all directors and executive officers as a group beneficially owned as of March 5, 2012.

Beneficial ownership is a term broadly defined by the SEC. In general, a person beneficially owns securities if the person, alone or with another, has voting power or investment power (the power to sell) over the securities. Being able to acquire either voting or investment power within 60 days, such as by exercising stock options, also results in beneficial ownership of securities. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes following the table, each of the named persons had sole voting and investment power with respect to the indicated number of Grainger shares.

		Option Shares Exercisable Within	Stock		Percentage of Common
Beneficial Owner	Shares	60 Days (1)	Units (2)	Total	Stock (3)
James D. Slavik (4) (5) (6) (7)	4,165,697	0	14,477	4,180,174	5.9%
100 Bayview Circle Suite 4500 Newport Beach, CA 92660					
Brian P. Anderson	4,340	1,670	11,546	17,556	*
Court D. Carruthers	4,340	30,000	17,000	55,773	*
Wilbur H. Gantz (8)	12,800	3,650	24,240	40,690	*
V. Ann Hailey	200	0	6,352	6,552	*
William K. Hall	3,000	0	14,044	17,044	*
Ronald L. Jadin (9)	6.601	50,200	13,500	70,301	*
Stuart L. Levenick	400	0	11,986	12,386	*
Donald G. Macpherson	3,224	38,000	24,000	65,224	*
John W. McCarter, Jr. (10)	15,343	3,650	12,429	31,422	*
Neil S. Novich	5,340	0	16,656	21,996	*
Michael A. Pulick	7,725	40,500	22,500	70,725	*
Michael J. Roberts	1,000	0	11,768	12,768	*
Gary L. Rogers	310	0	7,754	8,064	*
James T. Ryan	68,882	242,000	83,000	393,882	*
E. Scott Santi	300	0	2,113	2,413	*
Directors and Executive Officers As a group (11) (12) (13)	5,330,264	493,570	336,265	6,160,099	8.2%

(1)

In computing the percentage of shares owned by each person and by the group, these shares were added to the total number of outstanding shares for the separate calculations.

(2)

Represents the number of stock units credited to the accounts of non-employee directors under the Director Stock Plan, the 2005 Incentive Plan, and the 2010 Incentive Plan, and the number of restricted stock units credited to the accounts of executive officers under the 1990 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan, the 2005 Incentive Plan, and the 2010 Incentive Plan. Each stock unit is intended to

Table of Contents

	be the economic equivalent of a share of Grainger common stock. These units are excluded from the computations of percentages of shares owned.
(3)	An asterisk (*) indicates less than 1%.
(4)	Mr. Slavik is known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of Grainger's common stock.
(5)	Includes 2,510,088 shares as to which Mr. Slavik has shared voting and/or investment power.
(6)	Excludes 705,046 shares held by certain of Mr. Slavik's family members, as to which shares Mr. Slavik disclaims voting or investment power.
(7)	Includes 252,804 shares that are pledged as collateral.
(8)	Includes 6,500 shares as to which Mr. Gantz has shared voting and investment power.
(9)	Excludes 1,025 shares and 8,900 option shares exercisable within 60 days held by Mr. Jadin's wife, as to which Mr. Jadin disclaims voting or investment power.
(10)	Includes 15,343 shares as to which Mr. McCarter has shared voting and investment power with his wife.
(11)	Includes 3,533,065 shares as to which members of the group have shared voting and/or investment power.
(12)	Excludes 706,071 shares and 8,900 option shares exercisable within 60 days held by certain family members, as to which shares members of the group disclaim voting or investment power.
(13)	Includes 995,945 shares as to which a member of the group who is an Executive Officer may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power by virtue of his serving as a director of The Grainger Foundation, Inc. The Grainger Foundation was established in 1952 by William Wallace Grainger, the founder of Grainger, and is not directly affiliated with Grainger.

The following table sets forth information concerning all other persons known to Grainger to beneficially own more than 5% of Grainger's common stock.

Beneficial Owner	Shares Beneficially Owned*	Percentage of Common Stock
The Vanguard Group, Inc.	3,689,307**	5.28%
100 Vanguard Blvd.		
Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355		
David W. Grainger		
100 Grainger Parkway	5,677,869***	8.08%
Lake Forest, Illinois 60045		

^{*}

Includes shares beneficially owned by affiliated entities.

**

As reported in a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission containing information as of December 31, 2011. Schedule 13G filers generally are institutional investors who acquire beneficial ownership of more than 5% of a public company's voting securities in the ordinary course of business without the purpose of changing or influencing control of the company. Includes 83,512 shares as to which sole voting power is claimed and 3,605,795 shares as to which sole dispositive power is claimed.

As of the record date, March 5, 2012.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires that Grainger's directors, executive officers, and 10% shareholders file with the SEC reports concerning their ownership, and changes in their ownership, of Grainger equity securities. Based on a review of copies of the reports provided to Grainger and representations of those persons, Grainger believes that these filing requirements were met during 2011.

Table of Contents

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Audit Committee is "independent," as that term is defined in the independence requirements for audit committee members contained in the applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and standards of the New York Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee acts under a charter that is reviewed annually, was last amended by the Board on October 26, 2010, and is available on the Company's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

Management is responsible for the Company's internal controls and the financial reporting process and for compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Ernst & Young LLP, the Company's independent auditor, was responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company's most recent consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as well as expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee's responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.

In performing these responsibilities, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the Company's audited consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting with management and Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee discussed with Ernst & Young LLP matters required to be discussed under Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, "Communication with Audit Committees", as amended and as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T. Ernst & Young LLP also provided to the Audit Committee the letter and written disclosures required by the Ethics and Independence Rule No. 3526, "Communications with Audit Committees Concerning Independence," and the Audit Committee discussed with Ernst & Young LLP the matter of the firm's independence.

Based on the review and discussions described above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

V. Ann Hailey, Chair Brian P. Anderson Wilbur H. Gantz William K. Hall Gary L. Rogers E. Scott Santi

Members of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

AUDIT FEES AND AUDIT COMMITTEE PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The following table sets forth the fees for professional services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP with respect to fiscal years 2011 and 2010, respectively:

Fee Category	2011	2010
Audit Fees	\$ 2,192,790	\$ 1,549,750
Audit-Related Fees	144,500	293,000
Tax Fees	757,100	117,500
All Other Fees	3,000	3,000
Total Fees	\$ 3,097,390	\$ 1,963,250

Audit Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audits of Grainger's annual financial statements and internal control over financial reporting, review of the interim financial statements included in Grainger's quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other services normally provided in connection with Grainger's statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

Audit-Related Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of Grainger's financial statements. These services include the audits of Grainger's employee benefit plans and various attest services.

Tax Fees. Consists of fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. These services include assistance with the preparation of various tax returns.

All Other Fees. Consists of fees billed for all other professional services rendered to Grainger.

Pre-Approval Policy for Audit and Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit and permitted non-audit services to be provided by Grainger's independent auditor. Also, specific pre-approval by the Audit Committee is required for any proposed services exceeding pre-approved cost levels. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority for audit and non-audit services to one or more of its members, and such authority has been delegated to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The decisions of any member to whom such authority is delegated must be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. The Audit Committee periodically reviews reports summarizing all services provided by the independent auditor.

Table of Contents

REPORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management. Based on such review and discussion, the Compensation Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company's proxy statement for its 2012 annual meeting of shareholders and in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Compensation Committee acts under a charter that is reviewed annually, was last amended by the Board on December 8, 2010 and is available on the Company's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

Stuart L. Levenick, Chairman John W. McCarter, Jr. Neil S. Novich Michael J. Roberts James D. Slavik

Members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors 27

Table of Contents

FEES FOR INDEPENDENT COMPENSATION CONSULTANT

The Compensation Committee of the Board has engaged Deloitte Consulting as its independent compensation consultant. The following table sets forth the fees for services rendered by Deloitte Consulting and its affiliates with respect to fiscal year 2011:

Type of Fee	2011
Executive Compensation Consulting	\$ 61,369
All Other Consulting	\$ 638,484
Total Fees	\$ 699,855

Executive Compensation Consulting Fees: Consists of fees billed for services provided to advise the Compensation Committee of the Board with respect to executive and director compensation.

All Other Consulting Fees: Consists of fees billed for all other services provided to Grainger. None of these fees are related to compensation matters.

Since 2003, an affiliate of Deloitte Consulting has provided other services to Grainger that are unrelated to executive compensation matters. The decision to engage an affiliate of Deloitte Consulting for these other services was made by management. The Board has been informed of this ongoing work and the use of an affiliate of Deloitte Consulting but neither the Board nor the Compensation Committee specifically approved these services. The Committee believes that the scope and nature of these services do not impair the independence of its advisor.

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Compensation Discussion & Analysis Topics:

- 1. Executive Summary
- 2. Compensation Philosophy, Plans and Practices
- 3. Compensation Committee of the Board
- 4. Risk Assessment
- 5. Say-On-Pay
- 6. Role of Management
- 7. Compensation Comparator Group
- 8. Base Salaries
- 9. Annual Incentives
- 10. Long-Term Incentives
- 11. Stock Ownership Guidelines
- 12. Hedging Prohibition
- 13. Other Benefits
- 14. Employment Contracts, Change in Control Arrangements, and Termination of Employment Arrangements
- 15. Compensation Recoupment Policy ("Clawbacks")



1. Executive Summary

The Company's compensation program is based upon a philosophy that is applied to all Company employees to attract and retain the best people and provide them appropriate performance based incentives that encourage them to achieve results that create long-term shareholder value.

Employees at all levels of the Company, including its executives, are provided clear incentives to grow the business (Sales Growth) while achieving investment returns (Return on Invested Capital, or "ROIC") for the Company's shareholders. For executives, the compensation program is designed to link pay to performance and is structured to reward both annual and long-term Company performance while not encouraging excessive risk taking.

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis ("CD&A") describes the Company's compensation philosophy and programs generally, and explains the compensation paid to the five most highly compensated executives the Named Executive Officers ("NEOs").

Named Executive Officers (NEOs) for 2011

Officer	Title
James T. Ryan	Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")
Ronald L. Jadin	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO")
Court D. Carruthers	Senior Vice President and President, Grainger International
Donald G. Macpherson	Senior Vice President and President, Global Supply Chain and Corporate Strategy
Michael A. Pulick	Senior Vice President and President, Grainger U.S.

Compensation includes a combination of base salary, short-term incentives, long-term equity incentives including performance shares and stock options, and a performance based retirement vehicle. These components are combined to provide Company executives with appropriate incentives for profitable long-term growth.

The Company makes use of the following components for NEO compensation:

Compensation Element	Purpose	Link to Performance	Fixed/ Performance Based	Short/Long Term
Base Salary	Establishes a market competitive level and provides an appropriate level of fixed compensation to attract and retain leaders.	Based on individual performance.	Fixed	Short-Term
Annual Incentives (Management Incentive Program)	Encourages annual results that create shareholder value.	Linked to annual achievement of predetermined Company objectives annual sales growth and ROIC.	Performance Based	Short-Term
Stock Options	Directly link managers' and shareholders' interests by tying long-term incentives to stock appreciation.	The initial grant value (above or below target) is linked to individual performance, however the ultimate value of the program is linked to stock price performance for up to 10 years.	Performance Based	Long-Term
Performance Shares	Aligns compensation with the Company's business strategy and the long-term creation of shareholder value.	Linked to achieving specific pre-determined Company objectives and stock price over the three-year performance period sales growth and 3-year ROIC.	Performance Based	Long-Term
Retirement/Profit Sharing Trust ("PST")	Aligns the interests of the employees and shareholders as the Company's annual contribution is based on a formula that incorporates two key drivers of shareholder value earnings performance and capital employed.	Linked to financial performance contributions greater than 8% are based on Company performance.	Performance Based	Long-Term

Table of Contents

In order to protect shareholders' interests, the Company has the following risk mitigating procedures in place:

Compensation Program vs. Risk Mitigating Action	Annual Incentives	Stock Options	Performance Shares
Balanced Performance Measures (Growth and Profits)	Х	Х	Х
Robust Goal Setting	Х	X	Х
Retention Ratio	N/A	Х	Х
Clawback Polices	Х	Х	X
Stock Ownership Requirements	N/A	Х	Х
Awards Capped	Х	Х	Х
CCOB Oversight	Х	Х	Х
Internal and Independent External Audit	Х	Х	Х

Target total compensation for the Company's employees and executives is generally set to approximate the market median. However, individual components will vary because the Company believes that levels of long-term and performance based compensation which aligns management to shareholders should increase with greater levels of responsibility within the Company. NEO compensation is structured so that the largest component is long-term equity (stock options and performance shares), followed by base salary and the annual incentives (this detail is shown in the following table). Each NEO's compensation is compared to equivalent positions in a comparator group selected by the Board's Compensation Committee (with assistance from the independent compensation consultant).

Table of Contents

The Company's compensation is structured to align a substantial portion of NEO pay to the performance of the Company and the use of performance based pay is slightly higher than the mix seen in the comparator group of companies. The table below shows NEO compensation components as a percentage of the total target compensation package.

	Performance Ba	Performance Based Compensation		Individual ompensation
NEO	Company	Target Market	Company	Target Market
Mr. Ryan	86%	86%	14%	14%
Mr. Jadin	76%	77%	24%	23%
Mr. Carruthers	75%	72%	25%	28%
Mr. Macpherson	78%	65%	22%	35%
Mr. Pulick	78%	77%	22%	23%
	Annual C	ompensation		g-Term pensation
NEO	Company	Target Market	Company	Target Market

Mr. Ryan	28%	31%	72%	69%
Mr. Jadin	40%	40%	60%	60%
Mr. Carruthers	42%	44%	58%	56%
Mr. Macpherson	38%	56%	62%	44%
Mr. Pulick	38%	41%	62%	59%

"Performance Based Compensation" consists of the annual incentive plan, long-term incentives and the Profit Sharing Trust ("PST").

"Fixed/Individual Based Compensation" consists of base salary.

"Annual Compensation" consists of base salary and the annual incentive plan.

"Long-term Compensation" consists of stock options, performance shares and the PST. Annual PST contributions are based on short-term performance however the value grows over time, distributions are restricted, and full vesting occurs after six years of service, making this component a long-term benefit.

"Target Market" was determined from the comparator group in the 2010 Aon Hewitt compensation study.

Table of Contents

2011 Performance

The two metrics used to determine performance based compensation are year over year sales growth and ROIC. In 2011, Company sales were \$8.1 billion (sales growth of 10.5% over 2010) and ROIC was 33.4%. Both measures exceeded the target performance goals of 7% sales growth and 28% ROIC.

ROIC

Sales Growth over Prior Year

The Company's 2011 financial performance resulted in strong alignment between management compensation and shareholder value.

The annual incentive program (Management Incentive Program "MIP") achieved 180% of target.

Awards under the long-term 2010 Performance Share Program will be 200% of target based on 2011 sales performance, if the three year ROIC hurdle for 2010-2012 is met.

2. Compensation Philosophy, Plans and Practices

As part of the Company's pay for performance philosophy, the Company's compensation program includes several features that maintain alignment with shareholders:

Emphasis on Variable Compensation. Over 75% of the NEOs compensation is tied to Company performance which the Company believes drives shareholder value.

Ownership Requirements. The CEO is required to hold equity in the Company worth at least 6x his base salary, and all other NEOs are required to hold at least 3x.

Clawback Provisions. The Company has established recoupment policies for financial fraud and/or material inaccuracies for NEOs as well as recoupment for violations of non-competition agreements and non-solicitation agreements.

Performance Thresholds and Caps. Both the annual incentive and performance share programs require a threshold level of performance in order to achieve any payment, and the maximum payments are capped.

Annual Risk Reviews. The Company conducts an annual risk review based on a process recommended by the Compensation Committee's independent consultant.

Minimal Perquisites.

The Company's compensation programs also maintain alignment with shareholders by not including certain features:

No Excessive Change in Control Severance. The maximum cash benefit is equal to 2x salary and target bonus.

No Change in Control Agreements with Tax Gross-ups.

No Perquisites with Tax Gross-ups.

No Employment Agreements. The Company does not maintain any employment agreements with its executives.

<u>No</u> Reloads, Repricing, or Options issued at a Discount. Options issued will not be repriced, replaced, or regranted through cancellation or by lowering the option price of a previously granted option.

No Payment of Dividend Equivalents on Unearned Performance Shares or Stock Options.

Overall, the Company's compensation program is designed to be straightforward and understandable to its employees and shareholders, and to drive long-term shareholder value creation by aligning compensation with both individual and Company performance.

3. Compensation Committee of the Board

The Compensation Committee of the Board is responsible for the Company's compensation programs and the compensation, salary and award of the CEO.

The Compensation Committee oversees the Company's compensation and benefit programs for all officers and employees. The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company's compensation practices reflect the highest level of integrity and that these practices protect the interests of shareholders. One of its responsibilities is to make certain that a competitive compensation structure is in place that will attract, reward, and retain employees and to motivate them to grow the business profitably. The Committee is also charged with ensuring that compensation, especially for executives, balances performance, provides appropriate incentives to increase long-term shareholder value, and ensures that compensation policies and practices for all employees does not include incentives to take inappropriate risk taking incentives.

In setting individual compensation levels, the Compensation Committee (with assistance from the independent compensation consultant, Deloitte Consulting LLP ("Deloitte Consulting"), and management) selects a compensation comparator group of companies and reviews studies of total compensation paid to executives in those companies with similar duties and responsibilities. The Committee then considers a variety of reference points, including competitive compensation data at the 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles, individual and Company performance, the executive's overall experience, replaceability, internal equity, unique skills, and management's recommendation to determine appropriate compensation for each executive. All elements of compensation are valued and reviewed in evaluating the relative competitiveness of the Company's compensation practices against the comparator group. Target total compensation for the Company's employees and executives (including the NEOs) is generally set to approximate the market median.

The Compensation Committee reviews at least annually a tally sheet for each NEO to evaluate the potential value of all compensation. The tally sheet includes each NEO's current base salary, annual incentive award, and the value of all outstanding equity-based awards (both vested and unvested), deferrals, benefits, and perquisites, as well as potential payments under termination of employment, such as retirement and certain change in control situations. Since no NEO has an employment agreement with the Company that guarantees continued employment, the tally sheets also facilitate the Committee's evaluation of the reasonableness of awards and their likely retention value.

Table of Contents

Under its charter, the Compensation Committee both makes executive compensation decisions and recommends actions to the Board of Directors and to shareholders (for example, related to the advisory Say-on-Pay vote), as appropriate. In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee regularly consults with independent advisors, compensation consultants, and the Company's management. The Compensation Committee's charter can be found in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor.

4. Risk Assessment

The Compensation Committee's oversight responsibility includes assessing the relationship between potential risk created by Company's compensation programs and their impact on long-term shareholder value. The Company's compensation programs are designed to include risk-mitigating features, and the Committee also engaged its independent compensation consultant (Deloitte Consulting) to assist with the process of an annual internal risk assessment of all incentive-based compensation, including short-term and long-term incentive programs.

The incentive compensation programs include risk-mitigating components, such as:

Balanced performance measures for example, sales growth combined with profitability;

Robust performance measure selection and goal setting;

Balanced mix of short-term and long-term incentives;

Balanced mix of equity vehicles for example, stock options and performance shares;

Clawback provisions to recoup incentive compensation; and

Stock ownership requirements.

In 2009, the Committee engaged its independent compensation consultant (Deloitte Consulting) to conduct a third party risk assessment that would be completed every three years. For the interim years, the Company conducts an annual internal risk review based on practices and methodologies recommended by the Committee's independent consultant. The results of the 2011 interim risk review were discussed with the Committee and the Committee's independent consultant.

Based on the findings and the Committee's discussion and review of the risk assessment, the Committee does not believe that the Company's compensation policies and practices are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

5. Say-On-Pay

At the 2011 annual meeting of shareholders, the advisory vote to approve the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers received the support of over 97% of the shareholders voting on the proposal. The Compensation Committee has considered these results and believes that they confirm the appropriateness of the Company's current executive compensation policies.

6. Role of Management

Management assists the Compensation Committee in the design, recommendation and implementation of compensation programs.

Members of management assist the Compensation Committee by routinely recommending programs that management believes will provide the appropriate level of compensation and incentives consistent with the Company's compensation philosophy. Consistent with this process, management works with advisors from Aon Hewitt to develop market information and recommends adjustments in base salaries, annual incentive targets, and long-term incentive awards to be reviewed by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board. For officers including the NEOs other than Mr. Ryan, the recommendations also include the structure and targets of short-term and long-term incentive programs for all employees, as well as changes to programs required for regulatory compliance. These recommendations are reviewed and approved by the CEO before they are presented to the Compensation Committee. In approving compensation, the Committee reviews and discusses these recommendations in conjunction with its independent compensation consultant. Mr. Ryan's compensation is reviewed by the Compensation Committee in conjunction with its independent compensation consultant, either alone or together with other independent directors (as directed by the Board), in executive session without members of management present.

7. Compensation Comparator Group

The Company's compensation program is regularly benchmarked against a Compensation Committee-approved comparator group of companies that are similar to the Company in size and complexity. The Company performs these studies to understand current market practices and to provide a reference point for compensation discussions.

Every other year, the Compensation Committee (with assistance from its independent compensation consultant Deloitte Consulting) selects a compensation comparator group of companies and undertakes a study of total compensation paid to executives occupying similar positions with similar duties and responsibilities in the comparator companies. All elements of compensation are valued and considered when determining the relative competitiveness of the Company's compensation practices. A comparator group compensation study was conducted in 2010 ("2010 Compensation Study") and the next study will be conducted in 2012.

The current comparator group consists of 24 businesses that are relatively similar in complexity and size to the Company and represent the types of major companies with which the Company historically competes for executive talent. The competitive market for executive talent includes companies both within and outside the same industry or sector as the Company. Most of the Company's publicly-traded direct competitors tend to be too small in sales or scope of operations for direct compensation comparisons with the Company. Including a broader range of companies provides a more representative depiction of the Company's competitive market for talent. Therefore, companies used for compensation comparison purposes differ from those in the industry indices used in the Company Performance Graph in Part II, Item 5 of the Company's most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Management played a minimal role in selecting the compensation comparator group in 2010, as the Committee relies on Aon Hewitt for survey and market data and its independent compensation consultant (Deloitte Consulting) for assistance. The role of management in selecting the comparator

group was limited to providing general comments on the relevance of each industry represented by the comparator companies.

Below is the 2010 Compensation Study comparator group.

	2009		2009
	Revenues		Interprise
Company Name	(Rmil)		lue* (\$mil)
Allegheny Technologies Inc	\$ 3,055	\$	4,753
Ball Corp	\$ 7,345	\$	7,251
Clorox Co	\$ 5,450	\$	10,707
Cooper Industries	\$ 5,070	\$	7,666
Dover Corp	\$ 5,776	\$	8,670
Eastman Chemical Co	\$ 5,047	\$	5,197
Eastman Kodak Co	\$ 7,606	\$	299
Fortune Brands Inc	\$ 6,205	\$	10,547
Genuine Parts Co	\$ 10,058	\$	6,220
Goodrich Corp	\$ 6,686	\$	9,191
Harley-Davidson Inc	\$ 4,782	\$	9,874
Hershey Co	\$ 5,299	\$	7,266
Manitowoc Co	\$ 3,783	\$	3,360
Mattell Inc	\$ 5,431	\$	6,772
Meadwestvaco Corp	\$ 6,049	\$	6,216
Officemax Inc	\$ 7,212	\$	2,285
Owens Illinois	\$ 7,067	\$	8,336
Pactiv Corp	\$ 3,360	\$	4,423
Rockwell Collins Inc	\$ 4,477	\$	8,305
Ross Stores Inc	\$ 7,184	\$	5,069
Sealed Air Corp	\$ 4,243	\$	4,441
Sherwin-Williams Co	\$ 7,094	\$	7,736
Temple-Inland Inc	\$ 3,577	\$	5,071
Terex Corp	\$ 4,043	\$	3,178
25th %ile	\$ 4,418	\$	4,675
Median	\$ 5,440	\$	6,496
75th %ile	\$ 7,073	\$	8,313
W.W. Grainger, Inc.	\$ 6,222	\$	7,261
W.W. Grainger, Inc. Percentile Rank	65%	0	60%

^{*}

Enterprise Value is calculated as market capitalization plus debt, minority interest and preferred shares, minus total cash equivalents.

The Compensation Committee reviews the Compensation Study in conjunction with a tally sheet listing the potential value of all compensation available for the NEOs. The Compensation Committee concluded the earned and potential awards were consistent with the Company's pay philosophy, Company and individual performance, and market practices. Based on this review, the Committee did not make specific adjustments to the Company's compensation programs.

8. Base Salaries

Base salaries are intended to provide an appropriate level of fixed compensation to attract and retain executives. Base salaries are determined after a detailed evaluation of individual performance, competitive market levels, and executive experience.

Annual base salary adjustments are considered and implemented to reflect individual performance, contribution and experience, and to maintain market competitiveness. The 2010 Compensation Study showed that, on average, the Company's base salaries for NEOs were slightly below the market median. After applying the January 1, 2012 base salary increases listed below, base salaries for the NEOs are slightly above the 2010 Compensation Study median.

Base salary increases for the NEOs, with the exception of Mr. Ryan, are reviewed and approved by the CEO before they are presented to the Compensation Committee. In approving recommendations, the Committee reviews these recommendations in conjunction with its independent compensation consultant.

The compensation awarded to Mr. Ryan is determined by the Compensation Committee with assistance from its independent compensation consultant and in relation to competitive market data. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves the corporate goals and objectives relevant to Mr. Ryan's compensation and evaluates his performance in light of those goals and objectives. Either alone as a Committee or together with the other independent directors (as directed by the Board), the Compensation Committee determines and approves Mr. Ryan's compensation level based on this evaluation, in executive session without members of management present.

Following the annual performance management review process (which all employees participate in), base salaries are reviewed and adjusted (if appropriate) to reflect individual performance, base salaries for comparable positions from market studies, experience, tenure, and internal equity.

Based on the above mentioned process, on April 1, 2011, the following base salary adjustments were made for the NEOs: Mr. Ryan's base salary was increased to \$1,000,000 (+11%); Mr. Jadin's base salary was increased to \$530,000 (+6%); Mr. Carruthers' base salary was increased to CAD 496,080 (+4%); Mr. Macpherson's base salary was increased to \$490,000 (+10%.); and Mr. Pulick's base salary was increased to \$490,000 (+10%). Increases for Messrs. Ryan, Macpherson, and Pulick included both a performance adjustment and a market adjustment to align their pay to a competitive level.

Effective January 1, 2012, the base salaries for Messrs. Jadin, Carruthers, Pulick and Macpherson were further adjusted to reflect performance in 2011, as well as the fact that they assumed new responsibilities. These adjustments were in lieu of a regular April 1, 2012 base salary adjustment.

Mr. Jadin assumed additional strategic planning responsibilities and his base salary was increased to \$570,000 (+8%);

Mr. Carruthers assumed the role of Senior Vice President and President, Grainger U.S. and his base salary was increased to CAD 545,700 (+10%);

Mr. Macpherson assumed the role of Senior Vice President, Global Supply Chain and Corporate Strategy, taking on additional responsibility for strategic planning, and his base salary was increased to \$539,000 (+10%); and

Mr. Pulick assumed the role of Senior Vice President and President, Grainger International and his base salary was increased to \$539,000 (+10%).

9. Annual Incentives

Annual incentives are intended to provide an appropriate level of variable compensation to encourage executives to achieve annual results that create shareholder value without encouraging excessive risk taking.

NEOs, along with approximately 1,600 other managers, are eligible to receive short-term cash-based incentives on the achievement of specified annual Company-wide financial performance measures set forth in the Company Management Incentive Program ("MIP"). The Company structures the MIP to motivate performance that balances short-term and long-term results and aligns the interests of management with shareholders.

Each NEO's target incentive award under the annual incentive program is based on a review of competitive market practice and is designed to approximate a market value that is generally at the median of the comparator group. The following table displays the 2011 MIP target, program and payment applicable to each NEO.

Name	2011 Target Incentive % (as a % of base salary)	Program	Actual Payment % (as a % of target)
James T. Ryan	125%	Company	180%
Ronald L. Jadin	70%	Company	180%
Court D. Carruthers	70%	Company (weighted 25%) International (weighted 75%)	161%
Donald G. Macpherson	70%	Company	180%
Michael A. Pulick	70%	Company	180%

A portion of Mr. Carruthers MIP was aligned with his international responsibility.

The Compensation Committee and management perform a thorough analysis in setting financial measures and goals for the Company MIP to ensure the program appropriately balances the Company's objectives, is aligned with long-term shareholder interest, and has appropriate and effective risk-mitigating components. While the measures and goals are clearly aligned with the Company's strategy, they also account for current economic conditions. The combination of sales growth and ROIC performance, as well as threshold, target, and maximum payment levels, serve to mitigate risk to the Company's shareholders.

The Company believes the design of the annual incentive program encourages performance that creates shareholder value by focusing on profitable sales growth and ROIC. The basic framework of the MIP has been in place for over ten years, although specific objectives and performance target levels have been modified on a year-by-year basis. This framework was selected to align with Company strategy and to balance sales growth with profitability, efficiency, expense management, and asset management. These measures are consistent with the Company's objective of growing profitably over time, which it believes is closely linked with shareholder value creation. The MIP framework allows the Compensation Committee the annual opportunity to adjust performance objectives in light of the current economic and competitive environment. Sales growth and ROIC remained the key structural components for the 2011 MIP. ROIC reflects how effectively management uses Company assets and is generally defined by the Company as pre-tax operating earnings divided by net working

Table of Contents

assets. Sales growth is determined by year-over-year results. Acquisitions and divestitures are not included in this determination. The total MIP payment is calculated as follows:

MIP Payment = (Sales Growth Performance + ROIC Performance)

The 2011 Company MIP was based on the Company's ROIC and year-over-year sales growth. The Company determined the payment earned for ROIC and the payment earned for sales growth, and, if the minimum performance thresholds were achieved, the two amounts were added together. Payments were based on the following tables:

For the year 2011, ROIC was 33.4% and sales growth was 10.5%. Based on these results, Company MIP was paid at 180%.

The following table shows various payout scenarios.

Daily Sales ROIC Growth Performance % Payout Performance % Payout 18% 0% 2.5% 0% 20% 10% 4.5% 25% 22% 20% 7.0% 50% 30% 9.5% 100% 24% 26% 40% 12.0% 150% 28% 50% 30% 60%

2011 Management Incentive Program Payout Tables

The Company believes that it establishes the sales growth and ROIC targets to provide the appropriate level of motivation. Under the terms of the annual incentives program, the Committee has the discretion to adjust MIP payment amounts to correct for any unusual circumstances, both positive and negative, that might affect ROIC or sales growth. No discretionary adjustments were made in 2011.

Due to the nature of Mr. Carruthers' role as Senior Vice President and President, Grainger International, his MIP award was based on the performance of the Company (25%) and the international business units (75%). The portion of Mr. Carruthers' MIP that is based on the results of the international business units is weighted as follows: Acklands-Grainger Inc. ("AGI") at 35%, China at 15%, India at 15%, International Market Development at 10%, and Latin America at 25%. The business unit programs are measured based on profitable sales growth for each corresponding business.

Mr. Carruthers' 2011 MIP payout was based on the objectives shown in the table below.

Mr. Carruthers 2011 MIP Calculation

Overall Weight	Weight of Business Unit	Business Unit Program (currency)		s Unit MIP ectives	Business	Unit Results	Incentive Multiple	Weighted Multiple	Perce of Targ Awar Paid
	35%	AGI (CAD)	Sales Growth 12.5%	ROIC 13.2%	Sales Growth 16.5%	ROIC 20.8%	189%	67%	50%
		Latin America Mexico	Sales Growth	ROIC	Sales Growth	ROIC			
		Interior (MXN) Mexico	11.0%	8.5	20.0%	15.6			
		Border (USD)	11.7% Sales	Operating	8.0% Sales	Operating			
	25%	Danama (M	Growth	Earnings	Growth	Earnings			
		Panama (M USD)	39.8%	0.0	52.8%	0.25			
		Puerto Rico (M USD)	10.0%	1.8	16.0%	2.8			
75%		Colombia (B COP)	145.5%	4.5	168.3%	4.5	173%	43%	32%
	15%	China (RMB)	Sales Growth 53.8%	Operating Earnings (22.7)	Sales Growth 34.5%	Operating Earnings (19.6)	87%	13%	10%
	15%	India (INR)	Sales Growth 24.8%	Operating Earnings (91.5)	Sales Growth 14.0%	Operating Earnings (80.7)	102%	15%	11%
	10%	Export (USD)	Sales Growth 10.5%	Operating Margin 15.1%	Sales Growth 15.0%	Operating Margin 16.6%	166%	17%	12%
25%	100%	Company (USD)	Sales Growth 7.0%	ROIC 30.0%	Sales Growth 10.5%	ROIC 33.4%	180%	45%	45%
2011 Multiple									1619

Incentive amounts paid to Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Carruthers, Macpherson, and Pulick were based on the performance targets established for the 2011 MIP and were made under a separate annual incentive program described in the 2010 Incentive Plan. This program is designed to ensure that annual incentives are performance-based and fully tax deductible by the Company under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The previously named NEOs were designated as "Covered Employees" under the 2010 Incentive Plan, a separate shareholder-approved plan providing for, among other things, annual incentive programs funded through amounts determined by reference to the Company's reported net earnings. Under the program, the Committee allocates a portion of an incentive pool to each participant. The pool is funded with 5% of the Company's net earnings and the independent members of the Board have the authority to make specific awards. The sum of the individual participants' percentages may not be greater than 100% of the pool. The 5% funding level and predetermined incentive pool allocations were selected to provide the independent members of the Board with sufficient flexibility to calculate an appropriate level of incentive for each executive while complying with Section 162(m). The independent members of the Board may use their discretion to reduce these amounts but may not increase them. For 2011, the program created a pool of \$33 million, of which only \$5 million or 14% of the total pool was distributed to participants. Consistent with prior years, the independent members of the Board used their discretion to reduce the amounts to yield payments equal to those that would have made using the same financial target and measures as the 2011 MIP.

Consistent with current practices, the 2012 MIP will continue to utilize sales growth along with ROIC as performance measures. Operating earnings may be used in place of ROIC in some international business units when ROIC is not an appropriate measure.

10. Long-Term Incentives

The Company annually provides long-term incentives to NEOs and other key managers in order to align with the following elements of the Company's strategy which improve shareholder value:

Achieve long-term business goals and objectives (including achieving financial performance that balances growth, profitability, and asset management);

Reward management for taking prudent action and achieving results that create shareholder value;

Attract qualified managers to join the Company; and

Retain management through business cycles.

The Company's long-term incentives for NEOs consist of stock options and performance shares and are provided under the shareholder-approved incentive plans. In 2011, the Company structured awards such that stock options represent approximately 70% of the total value of long-term incentive compensation and performance shares represent approximately 30% of the total value. Providing a mix of different types of equity awards reflects market practices for senior executives. The 2010 Compensation Study suggests that the long-term compensation plans at many comparator companies use a mix of three types of equity awards performance shares, options, and restricted stock units ("RSUs"). However, the Company believes that its mix of performance shares and options continues to create the strongest alignment with Company performance. The ⁷⁰/₃₀ (options/performance share) mix provides an effective level of long-term performance incentive and the three year vesting schedules serve to aid in executive retention.

The target number of shares provided for options and performance share awards is designed to approximate an economic value that targets the median of the compensation comparator group for comparable jobs. The Compensation Committee annually establishes the target value of the award based on the executive's position. The actual award may be adjusted up or down to reflect individual performance. The value is converted to shares using the 200-day average stock price as of January 31 in the year of grant.

NEO Long-Term Incentives

Award	Weight	Vesting & Term	Performance Measure
Stock Options	70%	3 year cliff vesting; 10 year term	Grant allocated based on individual performance, long-term value based on appreciation in stock price.
Performance Shares	30%	3 year cliff vesting contingent on performance	Sales growth measured in year two of the performance cycle, with 3 year average ROIC.

Stock Options

The Company's stock options provide the right to purchase Company stock at a specified price over a ten year term. They are intended to directly link management and shareholders' interests by tying a substantial portion of management's long-term incentives to stock price appreciation. The ten

Table of Contents

year term is designed to focus the NEOs on long-term value creation. Three year cliff vesting encourages meaningful retention before an executive can realize any value created by stock price appreciation. In all cases, stock options are awarded at an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company's common stock reported for the business day before the grant. Stock option repricing is not permitted under any of the Company's equity incentive plans.

Performance Shares

The Company's performance share program provides the NEOs and other executives with a potential share payout depending on sales growth and continued ROIC achievement over a three year cycle. The actual number of shares paid to an NEO can range from 0 to 200% of the target number of performance shares awarded. The Compensation Committee (with the assistance of its independent compensation consultant) and management perform a thorough analysis in setting the financial measures and goals for a three-year performance cycle that begins January 1 of the first year. The sales growth component is measured at the end of the cycle's second year and the ROIC component is measured at the end of the third year. These measurement dates reinforce a long term focus. The combination of sales growth and ROIC performance serve to mitigate risk to the Company's shareholders, as do the threshold, target, and maximum payouts built into the program. Dividend equivalents are not paid on performance shares. Due to the three year cycle that each program covers, the Company has three performance share programs ongoing at all times.

2009-2011 Performance Share Cycle

For the 2009-2011 performance share cycle, the 2010 sales target of \$7.0 billion was established when 2008 sales were \$6.8 billion. This target was set during the 2008/2009 economic contraction and was done to emphasize the need to maintain sales during the downturn. The Company's net sales in 2010 determined the number of shares earned, while vesting remained dependent on meeting a three year ROIC hurdle of 18%. The payout of the target performance shares awards for this program cycle was made according to the following table:

2010 Total Company Sales	Payout as a Percent of Target
< \$6.5B	0%
\$6.5B	50%
\$7.0B	100%
\$8.0B	200%

In 2010, sales were \$7.2 billion and the participants were tracking toward 118% of their target. This award remained at risk through 2011. The award vested because the Company's average ROIC for the three year period 2009-2011 was greater than 18%.

2010-2012 Performance Share Cycle

For the 2010-1012 performance share cycle, the 2011 sales target of \$7.1 billion was established when 2009 sales were \$6.2 billion. The Company's net sales in 2011 determined the number of shares earned, while vesting remains dependent on meeting a three year ROIC hurdle of 18%. The payout of

Table of Contents

the target performance shares awards for this program cycle was made according to the following table:

2011 Total Company Sales	Payout as a Percent of Target
< \$6.4B	0%
\$6.4B	50%
\$7.1B	100%
\$7.6B	200%

In 2011, sales were \$8.1 billion and the participants are tracking toward 200% of their target. This award will remain at risk through 2012. The award will vest if the Company's average ROIC for the three year period 2010-2012 is greater than 18%.

2011-2013 Performance Share Cycle

For the 2011-2013 performance share cycle, the 2012 sales target of \$8.4 billion was established when 2010 sales were \$7.2 billion. The Company's net sales in 2012 will determine the number of shares earned, while vesting remains dependent on meeting a three year ROIC hurdle of 18%. The payout of the target performance shares awards for this program cycle will be made according to the following table:

2012 Total Company Sales	Payout as a Percent of Target
< \$7.4B	0%
\$7.4B	50%
\$8.4B	100%
\$8.9B	200%

The Compensation Committee selected these performance measures because they balance sales growth with long-term profitability, expense management, and asset management and align with objectives established in the annual incentive program. The Committee may use different sales growth and ROIC objectives and targets from year to year to maximize alignment with then-current business objectives and to reflect economic conditions.

The use of stock options and performance shares satisfies the requirements for qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company historically makes stock option awards to current officers and employees each year on the date of the annual meeting of shareholders. Performance share awards are made no later than March 30, in order to qualify those awards as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m). The Company does not time the grant of long-term incentive awards in respect of the release of material, non-public information nor for the purpose of affecting the value of executive compensation.

In 2010 the Company added additional clawback policies related to material restatement and fraud (see the "Compensation Recoupment Policy" section for additional details). In addition and in connection with their long-term incentive awards, the NEOs and all other recipients are required to sign an agreement containing confidentiality and non-competition obligations designed to protect the Company's confidential and proprietary information and to preserve the Company's competitive

Table of Contents

advantages. Under these clawback agreements, should an executive violate his or her confidentiality or non-compete obligations, any award is automatically forfeited. The agreements also require, in certain circumstances, that an executive who has breached the confidentiality and non-compete agreements must return vested shares and/or gains from disposition of shares to the Company.

11. Stock Ownership Guidelines

As of December 31, 2011, all officers subject to stock ownership guidelines, including the NEOs, are in compliance with the guidelines.

The Company continues to believe that requiring executive ownership of Company stock creates alignment between executives and shareholders and encourages executives to act to increase shareholder value. In 1996, the Company established stock ownership guidelines for its NEOs and other officers. In 2011, the Company increased the minimum ownership requirement for the CEO from 5x base salary to 6x and established a retention ratio for equity awards. The stock ownership guidelines for the NEOs are established based upon their respective positions within the Company and are as follows:

	Minimum Ownership Requirement	
NEO	as a Percentage of Base Salary	Currently in Compliance?
James T. Ryan	бx	Yes
Ronald L. Jadin	3x	Yes
Court D. Carruthers	3x	Yes
Donald G. Macpherson	3x	Yes
Michael A. Pulick	3x	Yes

These ownership guidelines must be met within three years of being elected an officer or assuming a new position, and are reviewed annually by the Board. Officers who fail to achieve these ownership levels will not be eligible to receive any equity-based awards until they achieve their required ownership levels. Shares owned directly by the officer (including those held as a joint tenant or as tenant in common), RSUs, shares underlying performance share awards once the number of shares is fixed based on achievement of the applicable revenue target, shares owned in a self-directed IRA, and certain shares owned or held for the benefit of a spouse or minor children are counted toward meeting the guidelines. Options (whether vested or unvested) and shares underlying performance share awards before the number of shares is fixed are not counted toward meeting the ownership guidelines.

25% Retention Ratio

In addition, it is the Company's long-term goal for executives to also meet ownership requirements expressed in outright ownership of actual shares. The Company has implemented a required 25% after-tax share retention ratio for NEOs. Upon receiving shares from the Company, following the exercise on settlement of equity awards, if the NEO does not hold actual shares or deferred vested shares worth the required ownership multiple, he will be required to retain 25% of the shares received from all such equity awards (net of any shares used to satisfy tax withholdings obligations).



Table of Contents

12. Hedging Prohibition

The Company's Business Conduct Guidelines (which are available in the Corporate Governance section of Grainger's website at www.grainger.com/investor) prohibit employees and the Board of Directors from engaging in any financial arrangement (including, without limitation, put and call options and short sales) that establish a short position in the Company stock and are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value.

13. Other Benefits

The other components of the Company's compensation program for NEOs are substantially similar to those available for most of the Company's employees. This includes the same health and welfare benefits and the same performance based Profit Sharing Trust ("PST") contribution methodology that is applied to the 19,000 U.S.-based employees who are PST participants. The Company provides Supplemental Profit Sharing Plans solely to maintain an equal percentage of PST compensation contribution to approximately 150 employees, including NEOs, who would be subject to contribution limitations imposed on qualified plans by the Internal Revenue Code. The Company does not provide any other supplemental retirement benefits to its NEOs or other employees based in the United States.

The PST is the primary Company-sponsored retirement vehicle for U.S.-based employees. The PST aligns the interests of the Company's employees, management, and shareholders as the Company's annual contribution to the PST is based on a formula that incorporates two key drivers of shareholder value earnings performance and capital employed. The Company contributes a minimum of eight percent of payroll to the program and provides employees the opportunity to share in the success of the Company beyond this amount only if a threshold return on capital is achieved. The contribution percentage that each participating employee receives is a function of his or her years of service with the maximum contribution occurring at five or more years of service. The Company's U.S. NEOs participate in the PST on the same basis as all other employees. The Company does not maintain a defined benefit pension plan for U.S.-based employees.

Effective February 2010, the Company implemented a 401(k) plan for certain newly acquired businesses in the U.S. whose employees do not participate in the PST. Approximately 100 employees of the Company's 20,000 employees (less than 1%) are currently eligible for the 401(k) plan. None of the Company's NEOs are eligible for the 401(k) plan.

Mr. Carruthers is an employee of the Company's Canadian subsidiary, Acklands Grainger Inc. ("AGI"), and therefore participates in the AGI Notional Account Plan. The AGI Notional Account Plan (for designated executives) provides a 10% contribution (of earnings above CAD 233,500), which earns an investment return equal to the Canadian prime interest rate plus 1%.

NEOs and certain other officers may elect to defer receipt of up to 50% of base salary and/or 85% of annual cash incentives under the 2004 Voluntary Salary and Incentive Deferral Plan, an unfunded deferred compensation plan. The purpose of the plan is to provide executives with retirement savings and financial planning opportunities that are not available to them in tax-qualified retirement plans due to Internal Revenue Code limitations. The investment choices and returns for their nonqualified programs are the same as those offered to all other participants in the PST.

Effective April 2011, the Company requires that the NEOs and certain other Company officers have periodic physical examinations at a facility selected by the Company. The Company believes that periodic physical exams are important to maintain the effectiveness of its executive talent.



Table of Contents

The NEOs and certain other Company officers have grandfathered participation in the Company's former Executive Death Benefit Plan. The Company has discontinued its executive death benefit program for executives hired after December 31, 2009. Executives hired after this date are provided insurance coverage on the same basis as other employees. Unless offered to other Company employees, the Company will not make payments, grants, or awards following the death of an executive in the form of unearned salary or unearned bonuses, accelerated vesting or the continuation in force of unvested equity grants, awards or ungranted equity, perquisites, and other payments or awards made in lieu of compensation. The beneficiary of a participant who dies while employed by the Company is generally entitled to 120 monthly payments of 50% of the participant's monthly compensation, calculated on the basis of salary and target annual incentive under the applicable cash incentive program.

NEOs were eligible to be reimbursed for up to \$10,000 in financial services in 2011. The financial service reimbursements are fully taxable and not grossed-up to cover taxes. Officers are allowed the business use of corporate aircraft, car and driver, while Mr. Ryan is also allowed personal use of both, subject to his reimbursement of the incremental cost of use. These benefits represent a cost-effective method of allowing the Company's top executives to more effectively use their time. Mr. Ryan did not utilize the corporate aircraft for personal use in 2011. All other benefits, including the PST contribution percentages and various welfare benefits provided to U.S. NEOs and other executive officers, are comparable to those provided to the majority of salaried and hourly U.S.-based Company employees.

Mr. Carruthers receives a competitive Canadian benefits package, which includes benefits over and above those offered to regular Canadian AGI employees. These benefits include Group Life Insurance, Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance, Dependent Life Insurance, Dental Insurance, extended Health Insurance, and Annual Executive Medical Insurance.

Effective January 1, 2012, Mr. Carruthers relocated to the United States to assume his new responsibilities as Senior Vice President and President, Grainger U.S. Mr. Carruthers receives relocation benefits generally made available to employees on international assignments. Additionally, he receives additional benefits commensurate with his level. These include:

A housing allowance of \$95,000 per year;

Support for automobile expenses with a cap of \$40,000 per year and a one-time reimbursement up to \$10,000 for loss-on-sale automobile protection; and

A one-time relocation allowance of 2.0x monthly base salary.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal]	Bonus		Stock		Option	I	on-Equity ncentive Plan	P ,	Change in ension Value and VQDC arnings		.ll Other Comp.	
Position	Year	Salary (1)		(2)	A	wards (3)	A		C	comp. (5)		(6)		(7)(8)	Total
(a)	(b)	(c)		(d)		(e)		(f)		(g)		(h)		(i)	(j)
James T. Ryan Chairman of the Board, President and CEO	2011 2010 2009			0	\$	1,794,920 1,447,520 1,243,890	\$ 2		\$	2,182,500 1,980,000		0 0		335,847	\$ 9,198,031 \$ 7,648,407 \$ 5,005,497
	2007	\$ 050,000	ψ	0	ψ	1,243,690	Ψ	2,374,000	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	ψ	337,007	\$5,005,477
Ronald L. Jadin Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2011 2010 2009	\$ 522,500 \$ 500,000 \$ 440,000	\$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$	456,225 334,739 292,680	\$ \$ \$	859,397 712,530 594,000	\$	667,800 700,000 0	\$ \$ \$	0 0 0	\$ \$ \$	359,927 191,243 132,975	. , ,
Court D. Carruthers (9) Sr. Vice President and President, Grainger	2010	\$ 489,052 \$ 471,381 \$ 428,164	\$	0	\$ \$ \$	1,557,140 875,489 618,640	\$	843,794 712,530 594,000	\$	625,061 580,430 187,322	\$	2,313 1,862 1,213	\$	60,152	\$ 3,614,657 \$ 2,701,844 \$ 1,897,068
Intl															
Donald G. Macpherson Sr. Vice President,		\$ 478,750 \$ 433,750			\$ \$	364,980 334,739	\$ \$	843,794 712,530	·	617,400 623,000		0	-	,	\$2,548,941 \$2,279,844
Global Supply Chain	2009	\$ 400,000	\$	75,000	\$	292,680	\$	594,000	\$	0	\$	0	\$	49,892	\$ 1,411,572
Michael A. Pulick Sr. Vice President and President, Grainger U.S.	2010	\$ 478,750 \$ 438,750 \$ 420,000	\$	0	\$ \$ \$	364,980 334,739 292,680	\$ \$ \$	843,794 712,530 594,000	\$	617,400 623,000 0	\$	0 0 0	\$ \$ \$	154,461	\$2,628,516 \$2,263,480 \$1,422,072

(1)

Represents annual salary received in the relevant year.

(2)

Mr. Macpherson received a \$150,000 signing bonus; 50% payable upon the completion of one year of service and 50% payable upon the completion of the second year of service.

(3)

Represents the grant date fair value of stock awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Performance share grants are calculated at target achievement and may pay out up to 200% of the target award. The maximum total of the stock awards shown are \$3,589,839, \$912,450, \$729,960 and \$729,960 for Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Carruthers, Macpherson, and Pulick respectively.

Represents the grant date fair value of option awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

Represents amounts recorded in the Company's financial statements for the relevant year for amounts paid under a 162(m)-qualified, shareholder-approved annual cash incentive plan.

(6)

(4)

(5)

The Company maintains a Non-Qualified Defined Contribution plan for Acklands Grainger Inc.'s ("AGI") Designated Executives. The plan accrues an additional pension benefit equivalent to 10% of earnings in excess of the maximum earnings threshold of \$237,700 for 2011 and provides interest on the prior year balance of Prime, plus 1%. For 2011, the 1% additional interest totals \$2,358.24 for Mr. Carruthers. The Company does not maintain an employee pension plan nor does it issue above-market earnings on nonqualified deferred accounts for non-AGI officers.

(7)

For 2011, includes contributions accrued under the Company's profit sharing plan, the related supplemental profit sharing plan, and for deferred compensation plan participants, Company contributions that would otherwise have been made to the supplemental profit sharing plan (\$616,567, \$255,114, \$183,886, and 229,855 for Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Macpherson, and Pulick, respectively). Also includes contributions accrued under the AGI Defined Contribution Plan and the AGI Notional Account Plan (\$81,545 Notional + \$11,287 pension contributions) for Mr. Carruthers. Also includes reimbursement for financial services (\$10,000, \$9,907, \$0, \$10,000, and \$0, for Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Carruthers, Pulick and Macpherson, respectively), not grossed up to cover taxes. Also includes the incremental cost of the Executive Death Benefit Program (\$349,156, \$94,906, \$60,131, and \$83,734 for Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Macpherson, and Pulick), which provides a pre- and post-retirement death benefit (note that the program has been eliminated for all new participants). If a participant dies after retirement, an after-tax, lump-sum benefit approximating the participant's last annual salary and annual target bonus under the applicable cash incentive program is payable to the participant's designated beneficiary. Prior to retirement, a participant may elect to receive a reduced post-retirement payment, instead of an executive death benefit. In the event of a change in control of the Company, the plan assumes retirement on that date if the participant is then eligible for retirement (with the participant being credited with an additional three years of age and service for this purpose). The plan then provides for a lump-sum payment of the present value of the post-retirement benefit on the basis of the participant's death at age 80, subject to any applicable requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A.

(8)

Mr. Carruthers receives a Canadian benefits package, which includes benefits over and above those offered to regular Canadian AGI employees. The incremental value of these benefits are \$1,816 for Group Life Insurance, \$252 for Accidental Death & Dismemberment Insurance, \$6 for Dependent Life Insurance, \$447 for Dental Insurance, \$751 for Extended Heath Insurance, and \$1,214 for an Annual Executive Medical Insurance.

(9)

Reflects the amount paid to Mr. Carruthers in Canadian dollars, which were converted into U.S. dollars at a rate of CAD 1.0193 to U.S. \$1.000. This is the spot conversion rate at the close of business on December 30, 2011.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

		Estimated Possił Under Non-Equit Plan Awar	Payout	mated Fu ts Under Incentive n Award	Equity e s (2)	All Other Stock	All				
Name	Grant DateTl	nreshold Target	MaximumT	hreshold	fTarget N		No. of Shares of Stock or Units	Securities Underlying	or Base Price of g Option	Closing Price on Option Approval	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (7)
James T. Ryan	1/1/11 1/1/11 4/27/11	\$ 0 \$1,250,000	\$2,500,000	6,885	13,770	27,540		96,400	\$ 149.02	\$ 150.19	\$ 1,794,920 \$ 3,269,888
Ronald L. Jadin	1/1/11 1/1/11 4/27/11	\$ 0 \$ 371,000	\$ 742,000	1,750	3,500	7,000		25,336	\$ 149.02	\$ 150.19	\$ 456,225 \$ 859,397
Court D. Carruthers	1/1/11 1/1/11 4/27/11 4/27/11	\$ 0 \$ 340,681	\$ 681,362	1,400	2,800	5,600	8,000	24,876	\$ 149.02	\$ 150.19	\$ 364,980 \$1,192,160 \$ 843,794
Donald G. Macpherson	1/1/11 1/1/11 4/27/11	\$ 0 \$ 343,000	\$ 686,000	1,400	2,800	5,600		24,876	\$ 149.02	\$ 150.19	\$ 364,980 \$ 843,794
Michael A. Pulick	1/1/11 1/1/11 4/27/11	\$ 0 \$ 343,000	\$ 686,000	1,400	2,800	5,600		24,876	\$ 149.02	\$ 150.19	\$ 364,980 \$ 843,794

(1)

Represents potential amounts under the annual cash incentive award in the 2010 Incentive Plan, a 162(m)-qualified, shareholder-approved plan. The plan establishes a pool equal to five percent (5%) of the company's Net Earnings for the plan year. For 2011, the Committee used its discretion to reduce amounts to yield payments equal to those that would have been made using the same financial measures as the Management Incentive Programs for the other NEOs. The estimated plan award for Mr. Carruthers was converted into U.S. dollars at a rate of CAD 1.0193 to U.S. \$1.000.

(2)

The number of shares that may be earned for the 2011 grant of performance shares range from 0% to 200% of the target award and will be determined based on the Company's sales revenue performance in 2012. These shares will vest at the end of 2013 if three-year average ROIC is greater than 18%. The Company selected these measures as they balance revenue growth with profitability, expense management, and asset management. The Company believes that it has set the ROIC targets sufficiently high to provide the appropriate level of motivation for participants based on market and industry expectations and believes there is a strong probability that the ROIC level can be attained, thus allowing the shares to vest in 2013.

Represents a retention RSU award for Mr. Carruthers related to his promotion to SVP and President, Grainger International. These RSUs have three-year cliff-vesting.

(4) Represents stock option awards with a ten-year term and three-year cliff vesting.
 (5) Awards were issued at fair market value, which the Company has consistently determined as the closing price on the day before the award was approved.
 (6) Represents the actual closing price on the day the award was approved.
 (7) Represents the full grant date fair value of awards as calculated under FASB ASC Topic 718 without spreading over the vesting period.

		Opti	ion Awar	ds			Stock A	Awards	
	No. of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable	No. of Securities Underlying Unexercise d Options U Unexercisab	Underlying nexercised Unearned	lOption Exercise	Option Expiration	No. of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: No. of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not	Equity Incentive Plan Awards Market or Payout Value of Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not
Name	(1)	(1)	Options	Price (2)	Date (3)	Vested (4)	Vested (5)	Vested (6)	Vested (7)
James T. Ryan	25,000 30,000 57,000	130,000 122,000 96,400	5	8 83.08 8 85.82 8 81.49 8 108.15	4/25/16 4/24/17 4/29/18 4/28/19 4/27/20 4/26/21	63,000	\$ 11,792,970	46,770	\$ 8,754,87
Ronald L. Jadin	3,900 5,000 3,500 3,200 13,500	30,000 29,000 25,336	91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91	676.61683.08685.82681.496108.15	4/27/14 4/26/15 4/25/16 4/24/17 4/29/18 4/28/19 4/27/20 4/26/21	13,500	\$ 2,527,065	11,200	\$ 2,096,52
Court D. Carruthers		30,000 29,000 24,876	\$	\$ 81.49 6 108.15 6 149.02	4/28/19 4/27/20 4/26/21	17,000	\$ 3,182,230	10,500	\$ 1,965,49
Donald G. Macpherson	8,000	30,000 29,000 24,876	\$	6 81.49	4/29/18 4/28/19 4/27/20 4/26/21	24,000	\$ 4,492,560	10,500	\$ 1,965,49
Michael A. Pulick	10,500	30,000 29,000		8 81.49	4/29/18 4/28/19 4/27/20	12,500	\$ 2,339,875	10,500	\$ 1,965,49

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

24,876 \$ 149.02 4/26/21

(1)	Represents stock option awards with a ten-year term and three-year cliff vesting. Upon retirement from the Company, unvested options automatically vest and have the lesser of six years or the remaining term to be exercised. Mr. Ryan is currently retirement-eligible.
(2)	Awards were issued at fair market value, which the Company has consistently determined as the closing price on the day before the award is approved.
(3)	Represents ten years after the award date.
(4)	Represents unvested restricted stock units with three-to seven-year cliff vesting.
(5)	Represents the aggregate unvested restricted stock units outstanding multiplied by the year-end closing price (\$187.19).
(6)	Represents the aggregate performance shares with a three-year cycle as described further in the Compensation Discussion & Analysis
(7)	Represents the aggregate performance shares outstanding multiplied by the year-end closing price (\$187.19).

	Option	Awa	rds	Stock Awards						
Name	No. of Shares Acquired on Exercise (1)		lue Realized Exercise (2)	No. of Shares Acquired on Vesting (3)		lue Realized Vesting (4)				
James T. Ryan	34,550	\$	3,361,913	30,060	\$	5,256,931				
Ronald L. Jadin	9,000	\$	1,275,300	5,520	\$	1,003,257				
Court D. Carruthers	8,000	\$	795,200	9,720	\$	1,641,537				
Donald G. Macpherson	0	\$	0	4,720	\$	883,537				
Michael A. Pulick	12,000	\$	1,041,840	7,720	\$	1,332,487				

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

(1)

Represents the number of stock options exercised.

(2)

Represents the difference between the exercise price and the market price of the common stock on the date of exercise.

(3)

For Messrs. Jadin and Pulick, this represents 800 and 3,000 restricted stock units respectively, issued on April 25, 2007. For Mr. Carruthers this represents 5,000 restricted stock units issued on April 30, 2008. For Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Carruthers, Macpherson and Pulick this represents 20,060, 4,720, 4,720, 4,720, and 4,720 shares, respectively, vested on December 31, 2011, in settlement of performance share awards granted on January 1, 2009.

(4)

Represents the value of the restricted stock units and performance shares on the vesting date.

	Pens	ion Benefits		
Name	Plan Name	No. of Years Credited Service	Present Value of Accumulated Benefit	Payouts During Last Fiscal Year
James T. Ryan	None	n/a	n/a	n/a
Ronald L. Jadin	None	n/a	n/a	n/a
Court D. Carruthers	None	n/a	n/a	n/a
Donald G. Macpherson	None	n/a	n/a	n/a
Michael A. Pulick	None	n/a	n/a	n/a

		N	onqualifie	ed I	Deferred C	omp	en	sation					
Name	Plan	Со	Executive ntributions Last FY (1)	Co	Registrant ontributions n Last FY (2)	E	Car	gregate mings in at FY (3)	Wi	ggregate thdrawals/ :ibutions (4)	00 0		
			(1)		(=)				2150				
James T. Ryan	Deferred RSUs	\$	0	\$	0	ġ	\$	1,799,440	-\$	1,197,200	\$	6,177,270	
	SPSP & SPSP II	\$	0	\$	134,279	-\$		6,054	\$	0	\$	1,752,262	
	Total	\$	0	\$	134,279	\$	6	1,793,386	-\$	1,197,200	\$	7,929,532	
Ronald L. Jadin	SPSP & SPSP II	\$	0	\$	54,256	-\$		11,084	\$	0	\$	149,823	
	Voluntary Salary & Incentive Deferral	\$	350,000	\$	0	9	\$	5,237	\$	0	\$	1,434,357	
	Total	\$	350,000	\$	54,256	-\$		5,847	\$	0	\$	1,584,180	
Court D.										AGI Notion	al A	.ccount Plan	
Carruthers	Total	\$	0	\$	83,318	\$	6	9,456	\$	0	\$	329,148	
										S	PSI	P & SPSP II	
D.G. Macpherson	Total	\$	0	\$	32,351	-\$		501	\$	0	\$	69,347	
Michael A. Pulick	Deferred RSUs	\$	0	\$	0	9	\$	516,000	\$	0	\$	1,871,900	
	SPSP & SPSP II	\$	0	\$	41,607	-\$		18,636	\$	0	\$	250,468	
	Voluntary Salary & Incentive Deferral	\$	0	\$	9,061	-\$		27,972	-\$	46,444	\$	383,029	

	Total \$	0 \$	50,668	\$	469,392 -\$	46,444 \$	2,505,397
--	----------	------	--------	----	-------------	-----------	-----------

(1)

Represents voluntary short term incentive deferrals for Mr. Jadin.

(2)

The Company provides the supplemental profit sharing plans (SPSPs) solely to maintain an equal percentage of PST contribution to approximately 150 employees (including all NEOs) who would be subject to contribution limits imposed on qualified plans by the Internal Revenue Code. For Messrs. Ryan, Jadin, Pulick, and Macpherson this represents the Company SPSP contribution. For Mr. Carruthers, this represents the company contribution to the AGI Notional Account Plan. These contributions were disclosed as part of "All Other Comp." in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table. For Mr. Jadin, represents make-whole contributions to the SPSPs that would otherwise have been made had he not voluntarily deferred salary in 2011.

(3)

Represents earnings on all nonqualified deferred compensation balances, including SPSP earnings, stock price appreciation and dividend equivalent payments for vested, deferred restricted stock units, and for Mr. Jadin, earnings on voluntary deferrals. Investment choices for any officer, including an NEO, who elects to defer salary and/or bonus may be made only from the same investment funds available to all employees under the Company's profit sharing plan. The rate of return on the individual accounts (positive or negative) is a function of the participant-selected investment funds. A participating officer may elect to receive distributions as a single sum or in annual installments over a period of up to 15 years. If a participant dies, any undistributed deferred amounts will be distributed to the participant's designated beneficiary in a single sum as soon as administratively practicable. If a participant as soon as administratively practicable. In the event of a change in control of the Company, all deferred amounts will be paid to participants in a lump sum within five days after the change in control, subject to any applicable requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A. Mr. Jadin and other officers voluntarily participated in this plan in 2011. None of the amounts reported in this column are reported in the 2011 Summary Compensation Table.

(4)

For Mr. Ryan, represents 8,000 RSUs granted and vested on April 2007 and settled in 2011. For Mr. Pulick, represents 2005 salary, short term incentive and restorative contributions of which Mr. Pulick elected to receive payment on February 1, 2011.

(5)

Aggregate year-end balances for the SPSPs, vested deferred restricted stock units, and for Messrs. Jadin and Pulick, year-end balances for their voluntary deferral accounts. Messrs. Ryan and Pulick have 33,000 and 10,000 vested, deferred RSUs outstanding, respectively.

13. Employment Contracts, Change in Control Arrangements, and Termination of Employment Arrangements

The Company does not maintain any employment agreements with its executives.

Change in Control Agreements

The Company has Change in Control Agreements ("CIC Agreements") with a number of executives. These CIC Agreements are intended to ensure that in the event of a pending or threatened change in control of the Company the Company retains its management and that their full attention is focused on the best interests of the Company and its shareholders and not on the uncertainty of their future employment prospects under those circumstances.

The Company's CIC Agreements are "double-trigger" arrangements that require both a change in control of the Company and within the following two-year period: (a) the Company termination of the executive's employment other than for cause, or (b) the executive's termination employment for good reason (for example, because the Company reduced the executive's authority or aggregate benefits). Under each CIC Agreement, the executive is entitled to certain benefits which include a lump-sum payment generally equal to 2x the sum of (i) the executive's annual salary, (ii) the executive's target annual incentive, and (iii) in connection with the Company's non-contributory profit sharing plans, a percentage of annual salary and annual incentive equal to the average percentage of covered compensation contributed by the Company under the plans for the last three fiscal years. The executive is also entitled to two years of continued health and dental benefits.

Only certain executives will be eligible for future CIC Agreements (approximately 10 executives). Existing agreements will remain in place.

Change in Control Equity Plans

Under the terms of the Company's 1990 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 2001 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 2005 Incentive Plan, 2010 Incentive Plan, and Director Stock Plan, as amended ("Plans"), a change in control generally results in the following:

Accelerated vesting of any unexercised options, whether or not exercisable on the date of such change in control;

Accelerated vesting of unvested RSU awards; and

Settlement of performance share awards in common stock equal to 100 percent of the executive's performance share target.

Deductibility of Executive Compensation; Accounting Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally disallows a federal income tax deduction to a public company for compensation over \$1 million per fiscal year paid to the company's chief executive officer and its four other most highly compensated executive officers serving at the end of that year. Compensation that qualifies as "performance-based" compensation is not subject to the deductibility limit. A Company objective is to attempt to maximize the deductibility of compensation under Section 162(m) to the extent doing so is reasonable and consistent with Company strategies and goals. Awards under the annual incentive plan in which the NEOs participate, gains on exercises of stock options, and shares received as the result of performance share awards are considered to be

Table of Contents

"performance-based" compensation not subject to the Section 162(m) deductibility limit. Awards of time-vested restricted stock and RSUs are not exempt from the Section 162(m) deductibility limit and all or a portion of these awards may be nondeductible when the awards vest. While the tax treatment applicable to the Company's compensation programs was taken into account in designing those programs, it was not a significant consideration.

Upon vesting, settlement or maturity, equity awards under the 2010 Incentive Plan and predecessor plans are distributed in the form of shares of the Company's common stock. Under the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 718 (formerly FAS 123R), these types of awards are considered equity awards. As a result, the total amount of compensation expense to be recorded for the awards is based on the fair value of the awards on the grant date. This fair value is then recorded ratably over the vesting period, usually three or four years, and is recorded to compensation expense and as an increase in paid-in capital. The amount of compensation expense is not subsequently adjusted for changes in the Company's share price, for the actual number of shares distributed, or for any other factors except for forfeitures or variable accounting associated with performance share awards. If an equity award is forfeited, all previously recorded compensation expensed is reversed. While the accounting treatment described above was considered in the development of our long-term incentive program, it was not a material consideration.

14. Compensation Recoupment Policy ("Clawbacks")

The Company has an expanded executive compensation recoupment policy (or "clawback") for equity and annual incentive payments made to officers. The Company can recover incentive compensation (cash or equity) that were awarded based on achievement of financial results that were the subject of a restatement if the officer engaged in criminal conduct or financial fraud. The policy also permits the recovery of all or a portion of any incentive compensation in the case of materially inaccurate financial statements whether or not they result in a restatement and whether or not the executive officer has engaged in wrongful conduct. In addition, should an executive violate his or her confidentiality or non-compete obligations, any award is automatically forfeited, and in certain circumstances, the executive must return vested shares and/or gains from disposition of shares to the Company. Recoveries under these provisions can extend back for three years.

This policy applies to any incentive compensation awarded or paid to an employee at a time when he or she is an officer. Subsequent changes in status, including retirement or termination of employment do not impact the Company's rights to recover compensation under this policy.

Termination

The Company does not have employment contracts and does not maintain severance programs for its executives. The executive's CIC Agreements provide the potential for a lump sum payment following a change in control. Except for a limited period of time following a change in control, the NEOs are not entitled to severance upon termination, as the Company does not maintain a severance program for its executives and the Company does not maintain any employment agreements with its executives.

Table of Contents

Retirement

The definition of retirement eligibility is the same for all U.S. employees. Under this definition, an employee is retirement-eligible upon attaining any of the following:

Age 60;

Age 55 and 20 years of service; or

25 years of service.

Mr. Ryan is the only NEO who is currently retirement-eligible.

The Company provides the following upon retirement:

Outstanding stock options become vested and executives have the right to exercise such options within six years from date of termination or for the remaining term of the option, whichever is less;

In the year of retirement, a fraction of the stock option award received in the year of retirement vests based on the number of months the executive worked that year;

Settlement of performance shares occurs after the end of the performance period in common stock equal to the number of the executive's outstanding performance shares earned for the performance period multiplied by the prorated portion of the performance period completed;

Cash payments equal to account balances under the Profit Sharing Trust, any supplemental profit sharing program, and the 2004 Voluntary Salary and Incentive Deferral Plan will be made in installment payments for up to 15 years or in a lump-sum payment based on the election made by the executive in accordance with the terms and conditions of those plans; and

Reduced life insurance benefits until executive's death.

In addition to the retirement benefits listed above, NEOs may receive benefits under the Company's disability plan or payments under the Company's Executive Death Benefit Plan in the event of death or disability, as applicable.

The following tables illustrate the potential incremental payments and benefits that could be received by the NEOs upon a termination or change in control of the Company. The amounts shown below assume that such termination or change in control was effective as of December 31, 2011 and thus only includes amounts earned through such date. However, the actual amounts that would be paid out under each circumstance can only be determined at the time of separation.

Other Potential Post-Employment Payments

Ryan, James T.

Type of Payment	Involu Termin without or Volu Termin with Q Rea (\$	nation Cause untary nation Good son	Ter for Ve Ter	voluntary rmination Cause or oluntary rmination vithout Good Reason (\$)	R	etirement (9) (\$)	Death (\$)]	Disability (\$)	Change In ontrol Only (\$)	v	Change In Control and Termination vithout Cause or with Good Reason (\$)
Cash Compensation Cash Severance (1)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	5,431,650
Management Incentive Program Prorated Annual Bonus Guarantee	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Long-Term Incentives Stock Options Unvested and Accelerated Awards	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Restricted Stock Units Unvested and Accelerated Awards (2)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 9,359,500	\$	9,359,500	\$ 9,359,500	\$	9,359,500
Performance Shares Unvested and Accelerated Awards (3)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	2,855,895	\$ 2,855,895	\$	2,855,895	\$ 5,572,646	\$	5,572,646
Retirement Benefits Profit Sharing Unvested and Accelerated Awards (4)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Deferred Compensation	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Benefits Continuation of Health & Welfare Benefits (5)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	521,284
Life Insurance and Death Benefit Payout (6)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	806,202	\$ 8,881,921	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	1,003,688

			Edgar	Filing	: GRA	ING	ER W W	NC -	Form	DEF	= 14A				
Disabilit	y Payments	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Payment	tes and Tax s ax & Gross-Up (7)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Outplace	ement (8)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	150,000
Total		\$	0	\$	0	\$	3,662,097	\$ 21 ,	,097,316	\$ 12	2,215,395	\$	14,932,146	\$	22,038,768
(1)	The Company doe except in the event										payment	of cas	sh severance u	pon te	ermination,
(2)	Mr. Ryan has three	e grants of u	nvested re	estricted s	stock unit	s as o	f December 31	2011.							
(3)	In the event of retine equal to the number disability, multiplic	er of perform	ance sha	res that v	est based	upon	the Company's	averag	e return c	n inve	sted capi	tal, as	s of the date of		
(4)	Mr. Ryan does not	have any ur	ivested pi	ofit shari	ng amou	nts as	of December 3	1, 2011							
(5)	The health and we continuation of act health and 6% den purchase of retiree calculation as well	tive health an tal annual tro medical wit	nd welfare ends as w	e benefits ell as a 5	using th % annual	e Com disco	pany's budget/ unt factor. In a	insured ddition	l rates pro , Mr. Rya	jected n has a	forward accumula	hrou ted C	ghout the two ompany subsi	years 1y va	using 9% lue towards his
(6)	Upon death, Mr. R Executive Death B Upon retirement, h amount in the table based on the Appli	Senefit Plan (ne has elected e is based on	EDBP). I d to receiv a 6.0% d	Figure ab ve a prese iscount r	ove refle ent value	cts the cash s	present value ettlement at re	lump-si iremen	um payme t in lieu o	ent am f the p	ount base ost-retire	d upo ment	on the FAS dis death benefit	coun under	t rate of 5.10%. the EDBP. The
(7)	Effective in July 2	010, the Cor	npany no	longer p	rovides a	tax gr	oss-up of any I	Excise	Faxes that	may t	be require	d.			
(8)	In the event of a ch outplacement servi date of termination	ices, provide	d that the	cost of s	uch servi	ces to	the Company	not exc	eed 15%	of the l	Executive	e's an	nual base salar		
(9)	Mr. Ryan has met	the eligibilit	y require	nents for	retireme	nt und	er the Compan	y's retii	rement pla	an as o	f Deceml	per 3	1, 2011.		

Jadin, Ronald L.

Type of Payment	Tern witho or V Tern wit	oluntary nination out Cause oluntary nination h Good eason (\$)	Ter for Vo Ter with	voluntary mination Cause or oluntary mination nout Good eason (\$)	Retirement (10) (\$)]	Death (\$)	I	Disability (\$)	Change In ontrol Only (\$)) T W O	Change In Control and Fermination ithout Cause r with Good Reason (\$)
Cash Compensation Cash Severance (1)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	2,175,074
Management Incentive Program Prorated Annual Bonus Guarantee	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Long-Term Incentives Stock Options Unvested and Accelerated Awards (2)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	6,430,235	\$	6,430,235	\$ 6,430,235	\$	6,430,235
Restricted Stock Units Unvested and Accelerated Awards (3)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	2,527,065	\$	2,527,065	\$ 2,527,065	\$	2,527,065
Performance Shares Unvested and Accelerated Awards (4)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	449,256	\$	449,256	\$ 1,347,768	\$	1,347,768
Retirement Benefits Profit Sharing Unvested and Accelerated Awards (5)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Deferred Compensation	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Benefits Continuation of Health & Welfare Benefits (6)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	31,817
Life Insurance and Death Benefit Payout (7)	\$	0	\$	0		\$	3,556,716	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	367,339
Disability Payments	\$	0	\$	0		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0

(8)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Outplacement (9)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	79,500
Total	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 12,9	63,272	\$ 9,4	06,556	\$	10,305,068	\$	12,958,797
	•	•			executive officers that without cause or wi		-	ayment	of ca	ish severance u	ıpon t	ermination,
(2) Unvested op	otions become ir	mmediate	ely exercis	able in the event of	death, disability, ret	irement,	or a cha	inge in c	ontro	ol.		
(3) Mr. Jadin ha	as three grants of	of unveste	d restricte	d stock units as of	December 31, 2011.							
equal to the disability, m	number of perfo	ormance prorated	shares that amount of	t vest based upon the firme Mr. Jadin wa	l to receive in settlen ne Company's averag as employed by the C	e return	on inve	sted capi	tal, a	is of the date o	f retir	ement, death
(5) Mr. Jadin do	bes not have any	y unveste	d profit sh	aring amounts as o	f December 31, 2011							
continuation	of active health	h and we	lfare benef		owed by termination vany's budget/insured nt factor.							
					50% of his monthly b alue lump-sum paym							
(8) Effective in	July 2010, the C	Company	no longer	provides a tax gro	ss-up of any Excise '	Faxes the	at may b	e requir	ed.			
		control fo	ollowed by	termination witho	ut cause or with good							
outplacemer	nt services, prov	vided that			he Company not exc ost to the Company						IY III	effect on the

Carruthers, Court D.

Type of Payment	Involu Termin without or Volu Termin with G Reason	ation Cause ntary ation Good	Tern for (Vol Tern w	oluntary nination Cause or luntary nination ithout Good ason (\$)	Retirement (10) (\$)	Death (\$)	1	Disability (\$)	Change In ontrol Only (\$)	(T W	Change In Control and Cermination ithout Cause r with Good Reason (\$)
Cash Compensation Cash Severance (1)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	2,046,621
Management Incentive Program Prorated Annual Bonus Guarantee	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Long-Term Incentives Stock Options Unvested and Accelerated Awards (2)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677	\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677
Restricted Stock Units Unvested and Accelerated Awards (3)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 3,182,230	\$	3,182,230	\$ 3,182,230	\$	3,182,230
Performance Shares Unvested and Accelerated Awards (4)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 405,578	\$	405,578	\$ 1,216,735	\$	1,216,735
Retirement Benefits Profit Sharing Unvested and Accelerated Awards (5)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Deferred Compensation	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Benefits Continuation of Health & Welfare Benefits (6)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	31,817
Life Insurance and Death Benefit Payout (7)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 3,213,970	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Disability Payments	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0

Excise Tax & Gross-Up (8)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Outplacement (9)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	73,003
Fotal	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 13,2	14,456	\$ 1	0,000,485	\$	10,811,642	\$	12,963,082
except in the					executive officers the n without cause or w				t of ca	ash severance u	ıpon t	ermination,
(2) Unvested opt	ions becom	e immedia	ately exerci	isable in the event of	of death, disability, re	tiremen	t, or a	change in	contr	ol.		
(3) Mr. Carruthe	rs has three	grants of u	unvested re	estricted stock units	as of December 31,	2011.						
equal to the r disability, mu	umber of po iltiplied by t	erformanc the prorate	e shares th ed amount	at vest based upon	entitled to receive in s the Company's averag ters was employed by	ge returi	n on i	vested cap	ital, a	as of the date o	f retir	ement, death
5) Mr. Carruthe	rs does not l	have any u	invested pi	rofit sharing amoun	ts as of December 31	, 2011.						
continuation	of active he	alth and w	elfare ben		lowed by termination pany's budget/insured unt factor.							
(7) Upon death, 1 death benefit		ers' surviv	ors shall re	eceive a basic life in	nsurance benefit of \$,606,90)5. In	he event o	f dea	th as a result of	f an ac	ccident, the
8) Effective in J	uly 2010, tł	ne Compar	ny no longe	er provides a tax gr	oss-up of any Excise	Taxes tl	hat ma	y be requi	red.			
outplacement	services, p	rovided th	at the cost	of such services to	but cause or with goo the Company not exc cost to the Company	eed 159	% of t	ne Executiv	/e's a	nnual base sala		
date of termin	iution. The		1		1 2			-				

Macpherson, Donald G.

Type of Payment	Involu Termin without or Volu Termin with (Rea: (\$	nation Cause Intary nation Good son	Ter for Vo Ter	oluntary mination Cause or Juntary mination /ithout Good Reason (\$)	Retirement (10) (\$)	Death (\$)]	Disability (\$)	Change In ontrol Only (\$)	C T Wi	Change In Control and 'ermination thout Cause r with Good Reason (\$)
Cash Compensation Cash Severance (1)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	2,010,918
Management Incentive Program Prorated Annual Bonus Guarantee	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Long-Term Incentives Stock Options Unvested and Accelerated Awards (2)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677	\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677
Restricted Stock Units Unvested and Accelerated Awards (3)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 4,492,560	\$	4,492,560	\$ 4,492,560	\$	4,492,560
Performance Shares Unvested and Accelerated Awards (4)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 405,578	\$	405,578	\$ 1,216,735	\$	1,216,735
Retirement Benefits Profit Sharing Unvested and Accelerated Awards (5)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	135,529
Deferred Compensation	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Benefits Continuation of Health & Welfare Benefits (6)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	31,817
Life Insurance and Death Benefit Payout (7)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 3,288,284	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	755,529

		E	Edgar	Filing:	GRAINGER	WWINC-	Form	DEF	14A				
Disabili	ty Payments	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
	tes and Tax Payments Fax & Gross-Up (8)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Outplace	ement (9)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	73,500
Total		\$	0	\$	0	\$ 14,5	99,099	\$ 11,3	310,815	\$	12,121,972	\$	15,129,264
(1)	The Company does a except in the event of							-	iyment o	f cas	h severance u	pon t	ermination,
(2)	Unvested options be	ecome imme	diately e	xercisabl	e in the event of de	ath, disability, retir	ement, o	or a char	nge in co	ntrol			
(3)	Mr. Macpherson has	s three grant	s of unve	ested rest	ricted stock units as	of December 31, 2	2011.						
(4)	In the event of retire stock, equal to the n death or disability, n Mr. Macpherson, ho	umber of pender of pender of pender of the second s	erformane y the pro	e shares	that vest based upo ount of time Mr. Ma	n the Company's av acpherson was emp	verage r	eturn on	invested	l cap	ital, as of the	date o	of retirement,
(5)	Mr. Macpherson doe	es have unv	ested pro	fit sharin	g amounts as of De	cember 31, 2011.							
(6)	The health and welfa continuation of activ health and 6% denta	ve health an	d welfare	benefits	using the Company	's budget/insured r							
(7)	Upon death, Mr. Ma Executive Death Ber												
(8)	Effective in July 201	10, the Com	pany no	longer pr	ovides a tax gross-u	ıp of any Excise Ta	ixes that	t may be	required	1.			
(9)	In the event of a cha standard outplaceme on the date of termir	ent services,	provideo	that the	cost of such service	es to the Company	not exce	eed 15%	of the E	xecu	tive's annual l	base s	
(10)	Mr. Macpherson is r	not eligible	for retire	nent und	er the Company's r	etirement plan as of	Decem	ber 31, 1	2011.				

Pulick, Michael A.

Type of Payment	Involu Termin without or Volu Termin with (Rea (\$	nation t Cause untary nation Good son	Te for V Te	voluntary rmination c Cause or foluntary rmination without Good Reason (\$)	Retirement (10) (\$)	Death (\$)	1	Disability (\$)	Change In ontrol Only (\$)	W	Change In Control and Fermination ithout Cause or with Good Reason (\$)
Cash Compensation Cash Severance (1)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	2,010,918
Management Incentive Program Prorated Annual Bonus Guarantee	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Long-Term Incentives Stock Options Unvested and Accelerated Awards	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677	\$ 6,412,677	\$	6,412,677
Restricted Stock Units Unvested and Accelerated Awards (3)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 2,339,875	\$	2,339,875	\$ 2,339,875	\$	2,339,875
Performance Shares Unvested and Accelerated Awards (4)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 405,578	\$	405,578	\$ 1,216,735	\$	1,216,735
Retirement Benefits Profit Sharing Unvested and Accelerated Awards (5)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Deferred Compensation	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Benefits Continuation of Health & Welfare Benefits (6)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 0	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	31,817
Life Insurance and Death Benefit Payout (7)	\$	0	\$	0		\$ 3,288,284	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	852,808

	Edgar Filing: GRAINGER W W INC - Form DEF 14A											
Disability Payments	\$	0	\$	0	S	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0
Perquisites and Tax Payments Excise Tax & Gross-Up (8)	\$	0	\$	0	S	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0
Outplacement (9)	\$	0	\$	0	S	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 73,500
Total	\$	0	\$	0	S	\$1	2,446,415	\$	9,158,130	\$	9,969,287	\$ 12,938,329

(1)

The Company does not maintain any agreements with its named executive officers that guarantee the payment of cash severance upon termination, except in the event of a change in control followed by termination without cause or with good reason.

(2)

(3)

Mr. Pulick has three grants of unvested restricted stock units as of December 31, 2011.

(4)

In the event of retirement, death or disability, Mr. Pulick is entitled to receive in settlement of performance shares, a number of shares of common stock, equal to the number of performance shares that vest based upon the Company's average return on invested capital, as of the date of retirement, death or disability, multiplied by the prorated amount of time Mr. Pulick was employed by the Company during the performance period. Mr. Pulick, however, is not retirement eligible as of December 31, 2011.

(5)

(6)

(8)

(9)

The health and welfare benefits value upon change in control followed by termination without cause or with good reason is based upon two years of continuation of active health and welfare benefits using the Company's budget/insured rates projected forward throughout the two years using 9% health and 6% dental annual trends as well as a 5% annual discount factor.

- (7) Upon death, Mr. Pulick's survivors shall receive, for 120 months, 50% of his monthly base salary and target bonus amount, under the Company Executive Death Benefit Plan. Figure above reflects the present value lump-sum payment amount based upon the FAS discount rate of 5.10%.
 - Effective in July 2010, the Company no longer provides a tax gross-up of any Excise Taxes that may be required.

In the event of a change in control followed by termination without cause or with good reason, the Company shall provide Mr. Pulick with standard outplacement services, provided that the cost of such services to the Company not exceed 15% of the Executive's annual base salary in effect on the date of termination. The amount above represents the maximum cost to the Company for providing such outplacement services.

(10)

Mr. Pulick is not eligible for retirement under the Company's retirement plan as of December 31, 2011.

Unvested options become immediately exercisable in the event of death, disability, retirement, or a change in control.

Mr. Pulick does not have any unvested profit sharing amounts as of December 31, 2011.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

This table contains information as of December 31, 2011 about Grainger's equity compensation plans, all of which have been approved by Grainger's shareholders.

	Number of common shares to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options warrants, and rights	exe	ghted-average ercise price of outstanding options, arrants, and rights	Number of common shares available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding common shares reflected in the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders	5,560,304	(1) \$	91.53	(2) 3,405,291 (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by	5,500,504	(1)\$	91.55	(2) 3,403,291 (3)
shareholders	-0-		N/A	-0-
Total	5,560,304	\$	91.53	3,405,291

(1)

Includes an aggregate of 1,339,329 restricted stock units that are to be settled by the issuance of shares of common stock on a 1 for 1 basis. Additionally, includes 90,340 and 102,400 performance shares which will vest at the end of fiscal 2013 and 2012, respectively, only if the average ROIC performance over the three-year period from 2011 through 2013 and 2010 through 2012, respectively, is greater than or equal to 18%. In addition, includes 67,560 performance shares which vested at the end of fiscal 2011 and are expected to settle in 2012.

(2)

Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options; excludes restricted stock units and performance shares.

(3)

Represents shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Plan (the "2010 Plan") in connection with awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock units, shares of common stock, restricted shares of common stock and other stock-based awards. Under the 2010 Plan, shares issued pursuant to "Full Value Awards" (awards other than stock options or stock appreciation rights which are settled by the issuance of shares, e.g., restricted stock, restricted stock units, or other stock based awards) count against the 2010 Plan's share authorization at a rate of 2.66 to 1, while shares issued as stock options or stock appreciation rights count against the share authorization at a rate of 1 to 1.

Table of Contents

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Grainger's Business Conduct Guidelines require that conflicts of interest in any form be avoided. The Board has adopted written policies and procedures, to be applied by the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee, for the review, approval or ratification of any transactions with related persons. Those policies and procedures apply to any proposed transaction in which Grainger is a participant, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000, and any director, executive officer or significant shareholder or any immediate family member of such a person has a direct or material indirect interest. The policy requires that any such proposed transaction be reviewed by the Board Affairs and Nominating Committee to determine, among other things, the benefits of the transaction to Grainger, the availability of other sources of comparable products or services, and whether the terms of the proposed transaction are comparable to those provided to unrelated third parties.

David W. Grainger, who is the beneficial owner of approximately 8.08% of the Company's outstanding common stock, is a non-executive officer of the Company. As compensation for his services as an officer, Mr. Grainger received an annual salary of \$52,000, perquisites and benefits the same as those received by other officers, and the ability to use the Company aircraft and car and driver for personal travel, subject to the requirement that he fully reimburse the Company for such use.

Table of Contents

PROPOSAL TO RATIFY THE APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has approved, subject to shareholder ratification at the meeting, the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Grainger's independent auditor for the year ending December 31, 2012. Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP are expected to be present at the meeting to respond to appropriate questions of shareholders and to make any desired statements.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the proposal to ratify the appointment of independent auditor.

Approval of the proposal requires the affirmative votes of a majority of the shares of Grainger common stock represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote. Abstentions will have the same effect as votes against the proposal. Broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of the vote. In the event the proposal is not approved, the Board will consider the negative vote as a mandate to appoint another independent auditor for the next year.

PROPOSAL TO CONSIDER AND HOLD AN ADVISORY VOTE ON THE COMPENSATION OF THE COMPANY'S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Company is asking its shareholders for their non-binding advisory approval of the compensation of its Named Executive Officers ("Say on Pay") as disclosed in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this proxy statement in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission rules.

As described in detail under "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," the Company's compensation program is based upon a philosophy that is applied to all Company employees to attract and retain the best people and provide appropriate performance based incentives that encourage them to achieve results that create long-term shareholder value. The Company sets target compensation for the Named Executive Officers to approximate the market median of compensation at companies of similar size and complexity. Employees at all levels of the Company, including its executives, are provided clear incentives to grow the business (Sales Growth) while achieving investment returns (Return on Invested Capital or "ROIC") for the Company's shareholders. The compensation program is structured to significantly reward long-term performance while not encouraging excessive risk taking. Please read the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" beginning on page xx for additional details about the compensation of the Named Executive Officers.

This Say on Pay vote is intended to address the compensation of the Named Executive Officers as disclosed in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this proxy statement as a whole rather than any specific item or amount of executive compensation.

We are asking our shareholders to vote "FOR" the following advisory resolution at the Company's 2012 annual meeting:

"Resolved, that the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this proxy statement, including the related tables, notes and narrative is hereby approved by the Company's shareholders."

This advisory vote on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers is determined by the votes of a majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote. Abstentions will have the same effect as votes against the proposal. Broker non-votes will not affect the outcome of the vote.

This Say on Pay vote is advisory and non-binding on the Company, our Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee of the Board. However, the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee of the Board, which is comprised of independent directors, expect to take into account the outcome of this Say on Pay vote when making future compensation decisions regarding the Company's Named Executive Officers.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote "FOR" the approval of the advisory resolution on the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers.

Appendix A

W.W. GRAINGER, INC. Categorical Standards for Director Independence

Business Transactions. A director's independence will not be deemed to be impaired by reason of his or her service as an executive officer of another company that does business with Grainger if in each of the three most recent fiscal years the other company's annual sales to Grainger are less than one percent (1%) of that company's consolidated gross revenues and if in each of the three most recent fiscal years Grainger's sales to the other company are less than one percent (1%) of that company's consolidated gross revenues.

Tax-Exempt Contributions. A director's independence will not be deemed to be impaired by reason of his or her service as an officer, director or trustee of a tax-exempt organization that receives contributions from Grainger if Grainger's contributions to the organization are less than one percent (1%) of the organization's total annual contributions.

A-1

002CSN0382